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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to this Hearing of the City's Council's

          4  Committee on Transportation.  My name is John Liu.

          5  I have the privilege of Chairing this Committee.

          6                 Today, this Committee will consider

          7  two items. One item is Intro. Number 94- A, a bill

          8  that mandates minimum service and schedule

          9  requirements for the Staten Island Ferry. This

         10  Committee has already heard extensive testimony on

         11  this legislation at three separate public Hearings,

         12  and the Committee saw fit to vote the bill favorably

         13  out of Committee.

         14                 Subsequently, the full Council

         15  approved the bill. We had sent it to Mayor Bloomberg

         16  for disposition, and on December 29th, the Mayor

         17  vetoed the bill.  Today, this Committee will

         18  consider repassing Intro. Number 94- A,

         19  notwithstanding the objections of the Mayor.  I will

         20  call for a vote on this bill in a short while.

         21                 However, we will, at this time,

         22  proceed to the other item, which is the thrust of

         23  today's Hearing, and that is an Oversight Hearing on

         24  the implementation of a Communication Based Train

         25  Control system on the Canarsie Line, and explore the
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          2  further intentions of the New York City Transit

          3  Authority with regard to the continued assignment of

          4  train conductors to trains in the City of New York.

          5                 This proposed computer- based radio

          6  frequency controlled system that New York City

          7  Transit is rolling out, initially on the L Train,

          8  will be used to operate subway trains. It's billed

          9  by the Transit Authority as a more efficient and

         10  more reliable operating system than the one

         11  currently used on all New York City subway trains,

         12  human driven and human controlled trains.

         13                 New York City Transit does tout the

         14  potential advantages of CBTC, however, there are

         15  many questions that accompany the inaugural rollout

         16  of this operating system into our subways.  Will it

         17  work?  And, if it does, will it work more

         18  efficiently than the trains being operated by human

         19  conductors today?

         20                 Will CBTC allow increased headways on

         21  the lines it controls, therefore, allowing more

         22  trains to run more frequently on those lines or less

         23  frequently on those lines?  Will human personnel

         24  ultimately be completely eliminated on CBTC and

         25  future subway lines?  Will the safety ramifications
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          2  of both CBTC, both to the riding public and to New

          3  York City Transit workers be completely addressed?

          4  And, more importantly, will response time and

          5  safety, in general, suffer when sick passengers are

          6  in need and when evacuations are to be conducted?

          7                 Less or no human contact and

          8  personnel on board these trains raises serious

          9  questions in our minds and similar concerns have

         10  been raised by many of our colleagues in the City

         11  Council.

         12                 Today, we will explore the potential

         13  advantages and pitfalls of the CBTC system and

         14  whether it is proper to implement such a system in

         15  New York City's subway system.  We will hear

         16  testimony about the same kinds of systems that have

         17  been implemented in other cities in this country and

         18  throughout the world.

         19                 One question that will always come to

         20  our mind is how those systems are comparable to the

         21  century old system that we have here in New York

         22  City, and whether New York City Transit and the MTA

         23  is, at this time, up to the challenge of

         24  computerizing our subway system.  Having computers

         25  drive our trains is a huge leap forward and we must

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  look before we leap.

          3                 I'd like to ask Council Member Lew

          4  Fidler to say a few words about this issue.  Council

          5  Member Fidler has been a champion in exploring this

          6  issue and he represents the district through which

          7  the L Train runs, the heart of which the L Train

          8  runs through.  Council Member Fidler.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you Mr.

         10  Chairman. First, I want to begin by thanking you for

         11  holding this Hearing and for your steadfast support

         12  to this inquiry, which has been gaining momentum for

         13  the past ten months or so.

         14                 First, I want to say that I have a

         15  confession to make.  I'm a trekkie.  I believe in

         16  progress and I believe in technology and I believe

         17  in moving forward.  I'm not afraid of it.  But, I

         18  also know that before I ever got on a transporter

         19  beam, I'd want to know two things.  The first is

         20  that that method of transportation was safe, and

         21  second, that if it broke down in process, that there

         22  would be trained personnel there to help me through

         23  that crisis.

         24                 As I learn more and more and more

         25  about the computer age train and plans for One
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          2  Person Train Operation, I get more and more

          3  concerned, concerned for the safety of my

          4  constituents who, right now, without command bus

          5  service, have absolutely no other mass transit in

          6  their system other than the L- Line; concern that

          7  they'll be safe, even if this system works, under

          8  routine operation; concern that they'll be safe in

          9  the event that something goes wrong with the system;

         10  concern that they'll be safe from people who are

         11  hell bent on causing something to go wrong with the

         12  system, which is, in this day and age,

         13  unfortunately, not paranoia, but reality; and I'm

         14  concerned that the subway workers that have to

         15  operate this system, both on the train and off, will

         16  also be safe.

         17                 We went to great, great lengths in

         18  this City to pass the Smoke Free Act, to create safe

         19  environments for our workers, and I wonder whether

         20  or not we are doing the exact opposite here for our

         21  transit workers.  They're certainly entitled to the

         22  same measure of a safe work place as any other New

         23  Yorker is.

         24                 The second level of the inquiry, or

         25  really, actually, the fifth level of the inquiry,
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          2  because to me, the first four are safety, safety,

          3  safety and safety, is what this is going to cost and

          4  what the benefit is.  Just as we look at every

          5  possible program and change that we have in the City

          6  of New York on a cost benefit analysis, how much is

          7  this costing and for what purpose?  How much are we

          8  going to save, if anything, in terms of the

          9  efficiency of the operation of our trains?  Will

         10  there be seconds, minutes of improvement in transit

         11  service?  Will that matter on a system that has, you

         12  know, blocks at the end of lines and pockets where

         13  trains sit until they can come out because there's

         14  only two tracks, as opposed to other cities that

         15  have loops at the end of a line?

         16                 And, what's it going to cost?  My

         17  understanding that the contract for the L Train

         18  alone is $135 million.  It's a year behind, because

         19  they haven't been able to make it work.  I can't

         20  even guess, and I hope we'll have answers today, as

         21  to what the cost overruns have already been.  How

         22  much is it going to cost to put this system into our

         23  entire transit system, as is the stated intention?

         24  How many billions of dollars?  Who's going to decide

         25  if that's worth a few seconds in train efficiency or
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          2  having a sign at Rockaway Parkway Station telling

          3  you that the next train, which is late already, is

          4  going to be there in precisely three minutes?  Is it

          5  worth it?

          6                 The more I learn about it, the more

          7  concerned I am.  I hope to get some answers today.

          8  I certainly know that the public is entitled to

          9  those answers before they're asked to get on the

         10  train and be lab rats or guinea pigs for a program

         11  and an implementation in which there are billions of

         12  dollars to be made world- wide and a huge, huge,

         13  huge amount of money at stake at the MTA.  Thank you

         14  Mr. Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         16  Member Fidler. We're joined in this Hearing by

         17  Council Members Larry Seabrook from the Bronx,

         18  Miguel Martinez from Manhattan, Joseph Addabbo from

         19  Queens, and in addition to Council Member Lew Fidler

         20  from Brooklyn, Council Member Michael McMahon from

         21  Staten Island, who is the champion of the other

         22  issue that we will be voting on shortly, and Council

         23  Member James Oddo from Staten Island.  Thank you.

         24                 At this time, we are pleased that we

         25  have representatives of New York City Transit, Fred
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          2  Smith and Kevin O'Connell, who are here to testify

          3  on this issue.  Good morning gentlemen, thank you

          4  for joining us.

          5                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Good morning.

          6                 MR. SMITH:  Good morning.

          7                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Good morning Chairman

          8  Liu and Members of the Council.  My name is Kevin

          9  O'Connell.  I'm the Chief Transportation Officer for

         10  the New York City Transit Authority's Department of

         11  Subways.  I'm joined this morning by Fred Smith,

         12  Vice- President and Deputy Chief Engineer, New York

         13  City Transit's Department of Capital Program

         14  Management.  We appreciate this opportunity to

         15  address the Council's concern as set forth in

         16  Resolution Number 323, about the Communication Based

         17  Train Control signaling system soon to be

         18  implemented on the Canarsie Line.

         19                 As Chief Transportation Officer, I am

         20  the person with direct responsibility for running

         21  the 22 lines, which carry four a half million

         22  passengers daily.  Nothing is more important to me

         23  than ensuring that 7,500 train trips we operate on

         24  an average weekday operate safely.  Since the

         25  capabilities of our signaling system directly affect
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          2  our ability to provide safe service, I have long

          3  looked forward to realizing the benefits which CBTC

          4  will confer.  I will take a few minutes to explain

          5  why.

          6                 The existing signal system in New

          7  York City Transit's subway system- fixed block

          8  signals, was the only technology available when the

          9  subway system was first built. Then, and for the

         10  hundred years since, it has served us well.

         11  Nevertheless, it remains 19th Century technology

         12  operating in a 21st Century environment.  Regardless

         13  of the technology used, every railroad relies upon

         14  its signaling system to perform two basic functions.

         15                 First and foremost, the signaling

         16  system must provide for the safe, safety of our, of

         17  train movements by ensuring that trains are safety

         18  separated and they do not overspeed, and by

         19  preventing conflicting train movements at switches

         20  and junctions.

         21                 Second, the signal system must

         22  support the reliable and efficient movement of

         23  passengers throughout the rail network by operating

         24  trains on defined routes and in accordance with

         25  established schedules, while also permitting re-
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          2  routing of trains to meet operational and emergency

          3  needs.

          4                 The fixed block wayside signaling

          5  system in place at New York City Transit Authority

          6  for the past 100 years achieves these basic

          7  functions by using track circuits to detect the

          8  locations of trains, wayside signals to communicate

          9  authorized train movements to train operators, and

         10  mechanical trips located at each wayside signal to

         11  automatically bring a train to a stop if it is

         12  operated past a red signal.

         13                 While the fixed block signaling

         14  system allows for the safe operation of our subway

         15  system, it always has inherent limitations.  First,

         16  it does not allow us to determine the exact location

         17  of a train.  Second, it can only communicate limited

         18  information to a train operator essentially whether

         19  to go, a green signal, stop, a red signal, or

         20  yellow, prepare to stop. Third, because the

         21  mechanical trip stops are only located at signals,

         22  overspeeding trains can be brought to a stop only

         23  after passing a red signal.

         24                 By the sixties, a second generation

         25  technology was introduced, it's called cab
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          2  signaling.  It had been developed to address the

          3  fundamental limitations of fixed block signals.

          4  This then new technology had the major advantages of

          5  providing continuous overspeed protection, and the

          6  new subway systems constructed in the sixties and

          7  the seventies, such as those in Washington, Atlanta

          8  and San Francisco all adopted cab signaling

          9  technology.

         10                 When New York City Transit began its

         11  efforts in the early eighties to rebuild its

         12  seriously neglected infrastructure, the necessary

         13  modernization of its signal system was a key

         14  component.  In developing a signal modernization

         15  program, signal technology had advanced beyond the

         16  benefits offered by cab signaling.

         17                 Communication Based Train Control is

         18  a third generation technology developed as a result

         19  of advances in computer and communication

         20  capabilities.  CBTC technology is a modern,

         21  reliable, service proven train control system

         22  utilizing train borne computers and a distributed

         23  network of wayside computers that ensure trains are

         24  safely separated and operate at safe speeds under

         25  all conditions, including conditions of equipment
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          2  failures.

          3                 The communication link between the

          4  wayside and train borne computers can be by means of

          5  inductive loops laid between the running rails or by

          6  means of radio, RF.  The choice of communication

          7  medium for the operation of the CBTC system has no

          8  effect on system performance or its safety.  Trains

          9  that benefit from the safety protection of CBTC

         10  technology can be operated manually by a train

         11  operator or automatically, both with or without a

         12  train operator, depending upon the design of the

         13  system and the policy of the particular transit

         14  agency.

         15                 CBTC not only provides the benefit of

         16  continuous overspeed protection, like cab signaling,

         17  but also allows one to determine the precise

         18  location of a train.  This additional information

         19  results in our ability to not only control train

         20  movement safely, but also to control train movements

         21  more regularly and reliably, providing better

         22  service to our customers.

         23                 By the early  '90's, when New York

         24  City Transit was prepared to make decisions about

         25  the direction of its signal modernization program,

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  CBTC was no longer a new technology. Toronto's

          3  Scarborough Line and Vancouver's Sky Train used CBTC

          4  technology since its mid- 80's.  Since that time,

          5  CBTC has been deployed on systems throughout North

          6  America, Europe and Asia. New York City Transit's

          7  decision to implement CBTC was made only after a

          8  careful assessment of our unique operating needs and

          9  a rigorous review of the available signal

         10  technology.  New York City Transit's decision to

         11  proceed with CBTC also vetted by international peer

         12  reviews involving signal experts from all other,

         13  from other agencies.

         14                 After settling upon a technology, New

         15  York City Transit then developed an implementation

         16  strategy.  By late 1997, the Canarsie L Line was

         17  selected for the initial CBTC project. The Canarsie

         18  Line was a good initial project because it's short,

         19  because it is a shorter line with a dedicated fleet.

         20    It is a two track, ten mile, 10 miles in length,

         21  with 24 stations and seven interlockings, and a

         22  single line of service, and a single line of

         23  service, the L, called the L.  Approximately two-

         24  thirds of the line is underground.  Passenger trains

         25  typically operate between the two terminal stations
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          2  in both peak and off- peak periods.  The Canarsie

          3  Line was also due for state of good repair work.

          4                 Having chosen both the technology, as

          5  well as the line of its initial installation, New

          6  York City Transit carefully constructed an

          7  implementation plan which, first and foremost,

          8  focusing, focused on realizing the safety advantages

          9  inherent in the CBTC project.

         10                 After an intensive procurement

         11  process, which included three potential vendors

         12  participating in a technology demonstration test

         13  program, a five year contract for the resignaling of

         14  the Canarsie Line was awarded to a joint venture of

         15  Siemens Transportation Systems Incorporated, Union

         16  Switch and Signal, and RWKS Comstock in December of

         17  1999.

         18                 Both the procurement process and the

         19  resultant contract established clear requirements

         20  for overall testing and commissioning and mandated

         21  an agreed- upon safety certification process.  All

         22  told, New York City Transit has made a $288 million

         23  investment in upgrading the Canarsie Line and

         24  equipping it with CBTC.

         25                 Before implementing CBTC at New York
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          2  City Transit, we developed the Safety Certification

          3  Plan for the Canarsie system, for the Canarsie CBTC

          4  system, to be consistent with applicable North

          5  America rail safety standards and accepted, and it

          6  is an accepted industry practice.

          7                 The Safety Certification Plan

          8  requires that all components of the safety

          9  certification process be approved by a Safety

         10  Certification Board, comprised of senior New York

         11  City Transit personnel from involved departments,

         12  including the Operations, Engineering, Maintenance,

         13  and System Safety.

         14                 Additionally, the Safety

         15  Certification Plan requires the involvement of an

         16  independent safety assessor, which has been

         17  Battelle, a premier testing and research firm.

         18  Battelle has been presenting its findings directly

         19  to the System Safety Certification Board throughout

         20  the system, the safety certification process.

         21                 With final safety and performance

         22  testing continuing, New York City Transit

         23  anticipates fully implementing CBTC on the Canarsie

         24  Line this July.  New cars, specifically designed to

         25  be compatible with the CTBC system have been placed
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          2  on the Canarsie Line.  CBTC will not be fully

          3  implemented until the System Safety Certification

          4  Board has fully reviewed all of the safety- related

          5  activities and reports, and has unanimously

          6  determined that all hazards have been addressed and

          7  that the system is ready for revenue service.

          8                 When CBTC is fully implemented this

          9  summer, Canarsie Line riders will be the first to

         10  benefit from both the safety enhancements and

         11  reliability improvements inherent in this

         12  technology.  CBTC will provide continuous overspeed

         13  protection, ensure that doors are open only when a

         14  train is fully in a station and only on the correct

         15  side, and will allow for movements in both

         16  directions on all tracks under signal protection.

         17                 Moreover, because the system

         18  identifies exactly where each train on the line is

         19  at all times, when fully implemented, CBTC will

         20  allow but all Canarsie Line locations, stations, to

         21  be equipped with an audible public address system

         22  and customer information screens that will provide

         23  real time information as to where a next trains is

         24  expected, when -- excuse me, when the next train is

         25  expected.
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          2                 Having detailed what CBTC is and how

          3  it came to the Canarsie Line, I'd like to take a

          4  minute to dispel some misrepresentations about this

          5  technology.  First, as I mentioned earlier, while

          6  CBTC is new in New York, is new -- excuse me, is new

          7  to New York City Transit, it is not new technology.

          8  It is widely used and its use is growing as older

          9  systems choose it as the technology for

         10  modernization of their signal systems.

         11                 Second, for CBTC to operate its

         12  design on the Canarsie Line, a train operator must

         13  be on board.  The CBTC system installed on the

         14  Canarsie Line, as will future CBTC installations at

         15  New York City Transit, it is designed to require a

         16  train operator at all times.  New York City Transit

         17  does not now, nor has in the past, any intentions of

         18  eliminating train operators from our trains.

         19                 There have been other

         20  misrepresentations of what CBTC is and what it is

         21  not.  Recently, critics of CBTC have gone to great

         22  lengths to use an unfortunate incident that occurred

         23  last year in Washington, DC, as an example of why

         24  CBTC is wrong for New York City Transit system.  It

         25  is an argument that is flawed for many reasons.
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          2                 In Washington, DC, on November the

          3  3rd of last year, an empty Red Line train awaiting

          4  to enter a rail yard rolled back, backwards, down an

          5  incline in the tunnel and collided with a train in

          6  passenger service, as it sat at the Woodley Park

          7  station, injuring 20 people.

          8                 While some Metro trains are equipped

          9  with anti roll back feature, which, when engaged,

         10  will automatically stop a train from rolling

         11  backwards, NTBS (sic) investigators determined that

         12  this train was not equipped with that feature, and

         13  that the incident was, and the incident train was in

         14  manual, not automatic control.  Investigators also

         15  determined that the operator of the train attempted

         16  to power up the train, but did not engage the train

         17  brakes, which would have brought the train to a

         18  stop.

         19                 The incident, this incident or one

         20  like it will not happen in New York, will not happen

         21  in CBTC operation in New York City Transit.  The

         22  CBTC system installed on the Canarsie Line cars

         23  provide an anti- roll back feature that puts the

         24  train into emergency, if it were to start to roll

         25  backwards.
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          2                 While New York City Transit has no

          3  intention of ever deploying driver- less or robot

          4  trains, as critics have incorrectly labeled them,

          5  the Resolution before the Committee does, however,

          6  question the impact of CBTC implementation on the

          7  continued assignment of conductors.  Operating

          8  trains without conductors on board, One Person Train

          9  Operation, we call OPTO, is like CBTC, is, like

         10  CBTC, nothing new in transit systems throughout the

         11  world.  However, while CBTC is new to New York City

         12  Transit, OPTO has existed in our system since 1996.

         13                 Since beginning our OPTO program, One

         14  Person Train Operation, in 1996, New York City

         15  Transit has clearly articulated its intent to expand

         16  its deployment.  From four lines in  '96, today, we

         17  operate now six lines.  However, future expansion of

         18  the program has been limited by the existing

         19  parameters for selecting routes appropriate for

         20  OPTO.

         21                 These parameters were designed to

         22  allow a controlled safety conscious roll out of OPTO

         23  on our older system, with more, with little OPTO

         24  experience.  Up until now, only routes with train

         25  links of no more than 300 feet, with average
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          2  passenger loading limitations of 125 percents of

          3  seated capacity of the train have been approved for

          4  OPTO service.

          5                 In 2003, the Division of Rapid

          6  Transit Operations requested the Office of System

          7  Safety to evaluate implementation of OPTO on the

          8  Canarsie Line, operating its entire length from

          9  Eighth Avenue to Rockaway Parkway, 24 hours a day,

         10  seven days a week.  In making this request, we knew

         11  we were seeking to expand the parameters established

         12  for OPTO operations.

         13                 The Canarsie Line was chosen for the

         14  expansion of OPTO for many of the same reasons it

         15  was selected for CBTC, including stations with

         16  predominantly straight platforms and clear sight

         17  lines.  Because of this prerequisite for CBTC

         18  required new subway cars on the Canarsie Line's

         19  dedicated fleet, the new cars could be and were

         20  designed and equipped with various features to

         21  support OPTO.

         22                 Our request to the Office of System

         23  Safety to expand OPTO to the Canarsie Line prompted

         24  that office to undertake a hazard assessment, which

         25  resulted in a list of recommendations which must be
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          2  met before OPTO can be implemented on the Canarsie

          3  Line.

          4                 Among the recommendations is that

          5  CCTV cameras be installed along the L Line

          6  platforms, so that train operators can observe that

          7  all platforms are clear before the doors are closed

          8  and train moves.  We expect that these cameras will

          9  be installed by May and all of our, and that, and

         10  that all other Office of System Safety requirements

         11  will be satisfied soon thereafter.  We anticipate

         12  beginning OPTO on the Canarsie Line at the beginning

         13  of June, regardless of CBTC.

         14                 In expanding OPTO to the Canarsie

         15  Line, New York City Transit is not only building

         16  upon its earlier experience with One Person Train

         17  Operation, but is following the standard used

         18  throughout this country and internationally.  In

         19  this country, old systems, like Chicago, Cleveland

         20  and Philadelphia have converted all of their

         21  operations to OPTO.  Newer systems like Washington,

         22  San Francisco and Atlanta have never employed

         23  conductors.  And in Europe's oldest systems, the

         24  London Underground, Paris Metro and Metro Madrid

         25  have employed OPTO since the  '80's.
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          2                 The expansion of OPTO represents one

          3  of the largest opportunities for productivity

          4  improvements in the New York City Transit system.

          5  It has been implemented throughout the world, as

          6  well as in New York, without sacrificing safety or

          7  service quality.  Our direct experience with OPTO,

          8  thus far, has shown it to be at least as safe as a

          9  two- person operation, if not safer, due to the

         10  elimination of the coordination between two crew

         11  members.

         12                 As I hope I've made clear with this

         13  testimony, contrary to the assertions in Resolution

         14  323, CBTC will make our subway safer for our

         15  employees who operate the trains and for our

         16  customers who ride them.  Any questions?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very much

         18  Mr. O'Connell.  I want to thank you and your

         19  associates for joining us at this Hearing today.

         20  Let me assure you and everybody here that the

         21  Council certainly shares your desire for better and

         22  safer and faster and more reliable and more

         23  efficient mass transit, especially as it is provided

         24  through our subway system.

         25                 I believe we have a number of
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          2  questions concerning your testimony, and I do want

          3  to thank you for providing us with very

          4  comprehensive testimony.  But, before I ask you

          5  questions, can I, well, let me start out by asking

          6  you if you are the person most responsible for the

          7  implementation of this system?  Would you consider

          8  yourself to be the most knowledgeable person to

          9  answer questions about this system --

         10                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yes, I --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Apart from

         12  really technical questions?

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That, I can say, I'm

         14  probably the most knowledgeable.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  So, you're

         16  the right person, and I want to thank the MTA and

         17  New York City Transit for sending the right person

         18  to our Hearing.  Let me start by asking you about

         19  the testing process --

         20                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- For this system.

         22    You did testify to some of the details about how

         23  this new system has been tested.  You alluded to

         24  tests in other cities.  What has been the extent of

         25  the testing on the actual subway system here in New
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          2  York City?

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We began the 1999 on

          4  the Culver Line, testing, testing CBTC.  Three

          5  contractors, three proposals were submitted for,

          6  three proposals were submitted to install CBTC on

          7  our system.  We, in 1999, on the Culver Line, we set

          8  up a testing process, where each company competed

          9  against one another for the best product.

         10                 MR. SMITH:  I think maybe I can

         11  better answer to the history of the testing, if

         12  we're going back to the  '90's. Our consideration of

         13  Communication Based Train Control goes back to 1992.

         14    During the period of 1992 to 1997, the Transit

         15  Authority conducted an extensive demonstration

         16  project, where suppliers in the business of

         17  supplying this technology to other rail systems

         18  throughout the world, were offered an opportunity to

         19  come to New York and to demonstrate their specific

         20  system, their product, to us.

         21                 We took a number of years to allow

         22  them to modify it to the New York City Transit

         23  Authority system.  We conducted that demonstration

         24  on the middle track on the Culver Line in Brooklyn.

         25  At the end of that demonstration project, came up
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          2  with three potential suppliers of CBTC systems for

          3  consideration for New York City Transit.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So that, what you

          5  just spoke about has to do, I mean, from what I'm

          6  hearing, has to do more with the contracting and

          7  selection process.  Have tests been conducted on the

          8  actual train lines themselves, subway lines

          9  themselves, the subway tracks that are in service,

         10  or are these, have these tests and experiments been

         11  conducted on simulated tracks?

         12                 MR. SMITH:  Once a contract was

         13  awarded for CBTC, for the L Line, the contractor

         14  began working on a specific product for delivery to

         15  New York City Transit.  That involved extensive

         16  factory testing at their facilities, which we have

         17  witnessed, which we have ensured that they are

         18  complying with the safety program that was developed

         19  through their company.

         20                 We have also begun integration field

         21  testing here in New York, and that is allowing them,

         22  through the use of, exclusive use on specific tracks

         23  in off- peak periods, to begin to test the

         24  equipment, as installed, to make sure it's working

         25  as designed, as individual components.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, you've used

          3  simulated tracks?  That's what I'm hearing, or have

          4  you actually run these, have you, for some period of

          5  time, shut down an actual subway line, perhaps in

          6  the wee hours of the morning --

          7                 MR. SMITH:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- And run these

          9  CBTC- operated trains on those subway tracks, going

         10  from station to station?

         11                 MR. SMITH:  What we do at the Transit

         12  Authority, when we're doing extensive track work or

         13  rehabilitation work, or in the case of equipment

         14  testing, is to take sections of track to put out

         15  what we refer to as a general notice, which takes

         16  exclusive use of that track, therefore, it's not

         17  used for revenue traffic.  Revenue traffic is put on

         18  adjacent tracks or run on alternative lines, so that

         19  the track can be dedicated to testing for some

         20  period of time during the off- peak time periods.

         21  That could be evenings, after the midnight hours and

         22  on weekends, using exclusive use of that section of

         23  track.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And, so you did

         25  close -- therefore, you're saying that you closed
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          2  down a section of the Culver Line track?

          3                 MR. SMITH:  Yes, during the

          4  demonstration testing, yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And, I'm sorry, I'm

          6  not familiar with the Culver Line, which subway is

          7  that?

          8                 MR. SMITH:  That's the F Line.

          9                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The F train.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  That's the F train.

         11                 MR. SMITH:  In Brooklyn.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  In Brooklyn, okay.

         13  You testified that the accident in Washington, DC is

         14  irrelevant to what's happening in New York or what

         15  you propose in New York.  I would submit to you that

         16  it is relevant, that we do have to take a look at

         17  the accident in Washington a few months ago.

         18                 Let me say from the outset that to

         19  suggest that that has nothing to do with what you're

         20  trying to do here is the wrong approach to go.

         21  Because, this is, as I said before, a huge leap

         22  forward, and before we take this leap, we must make

         23  sure that we have looked carefully at everything.

         24  I'll give you an example.  I think that there are

         25  some people who have said that by putting more of

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  the control of these trains in the hands of

          3  computerized systems, there is sometimes a tendency

          4  for the humans involved to even pay less attention.

          5  That's a possibility, and based on your testimony

          6  about what happened in Washington, I think that's a

          7  very relevant factor.  So, I would urge you and the

          8  rest of the Transit Authority, to look carefully at

          9  what happened with the Washington accident a few

         10  months ago.

         11                 I'd like to ask you what you think of

         12  the air train tragedy a year and a half ago?

         13  Because, that train was also run by a computer, and

         14  that was a much, much more easier and simpler train

         15  than a New York City subway?

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That, from the

         17  reports that we've been given, that report was a, as

         18  a, that accident took place during the testing of

         19  the, prior to putting it into service. From the

         20  reports we had, the testing practices were flawed.

         21  The operator of that line had not, had not

         22  established good testing practices and that was the

         23  reason for the accident.  It wasn't operating, the

         24  accident did not occur in automatic operation.  It

         25  occurred in the manual mode.  The operator, the
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          2  person on the train was operating the train in

          3  manual.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Safety is the most

          5  paramount concern on our subway systems and I think

          6  in, when this topic came to the forefront earlier

          7  last year, the Transit Authority had talked about

          8  implementing this system by the end of the year?

          9  What was the timetable a year ago for the

         10  implementation of the CBTC?

         11                 MR. SMITH:  The original project

         12  schedule called for testing to be complete during

         13  the mid- year of 2004, for full service to be ready

         14  by the end of the calendar year 2004.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Full service on the

         16  L Train, that is?

         17                 MR. SMITH:  Yes, correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, by December

         19  31st of 2004, the plan was to have the L Train run

         20  under this new CBTC system?

         21                 MR. SMITH:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  What is the revised

         23  timetable now?

         24                 MR. SMITH:  The revised timetable is

         25  for a completion and preparation for availability

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  for revenue service in the last spring, full

          3  functionality of the CBT system for July, with

          4  completion of the project by December  '05.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, let me ask a

          6  clearer question, when do you think that the L Train

          7  will be operating under this system for the very

          8  first time?

          9                 MR. SMITH:  For the entire route?

         10  The full length?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, when you

         12  testified that before, it was by the end of December

         13  2004 that the L Train was supposed to be run.  Did

         14  you also, did you mean the entire loop?

         15                 MR. SMITH:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, therefore, my

         17  question is what is the revised timetable for

         18  running the entire loop of the L Train?

         19                 MR. SMITH:  By the summertime, by

         20  July of  '05.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, so let's say

         22  by July 2005. Now, you testified, in your testimony

         23  you state that, or Mr. O'Connell states that it's

         24  your opinion that this system has been fully tested

         25  and is completely safe for operation on the L Train.
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          2  Is that correct?

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Have there been any

          5  up, is that based on testing -- that assertion is

          6  based on testing as of, completed as of what date?

          7  Was it based on testing that had been completed this

          8  past summer, according to the original timetable?

          9                 MR. SMITH:  There's a great a deal of

         10  testing that's going on and there are different

         11  phases and stages of testing, and we are proceeding

         12  with a staged approach to completing specific tests.

         13    Part of the process involves the training and

         14  completion of various testing of components, and

         15  then operation functionality.  So, it's being done

         16  in steps. There is a tremendous amount of overall

         17  testing required to be completed --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Sure, but --

         19                 MR. SMITH:  -- Before we make the

         20  decision that we are ready to proceed with revenue

         21  service.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  But, at this point

         23  you have determined that you have completed all of

         24  the safety examinations and testing that is

         25  necessary and have concluded that the system is safe
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          2  enough to proceed?

          3                 MR. SMITH:  To proceed with our

          4  current schedule to begin data collection, yes.

          5  Individual components have been tested individually,

          6  the --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, why don't I,

          8  let me just get straight to the heart of the matter

          9  I'm trying to address right now, which is why was

         10  there a six month delay in the implementation of the

         11  CBTC run L Train?

         12                 MR. SMITH:  We have --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  It was supposed to

         14  be, begun at the beginning, at the end of December

         15  2004, and now it's been pushed back to July 2005.

         16  What was the, was that because you found something,

         17  or was it because, what was it because of?

         18                 MR. SMITH:  From the beginning of the

         19  project, we have laid out a very detailed and

         20  comprehensive certification process that the project

         21  will follow.  A Safety Certification Board has been

         22  established within New York City Transit with

         23  representatives of seven different departments, high

         24  level people, that are involved in overseeing all

         25  the various steps that we've laid out in the
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          2  delivery of this five year project.

          3                 It involves a great deal of

          4  information, as we've talked about, your questions

          5  on the specific testing, I mentioned the factory

          6  testing by the supplier, at his facility, the field

          7  integration testing here on the property.  There is

          8  an extensive, volumes and volumes and volumes of

          9  testing documentation, other assessments and

         10  evaluations which are part of the process to approve

         11  the system for implementation.  We are continuing to

         12  go through those various steps.  Until everything

         13  that is required for approval, using the Safety

         14  Certification process, we do not allow the

         15  contractor to proceed or the schedule to proceed

         16  without all those items being provided.

         17                 So, if there is any delay in specific

         18  documentation, or if we're not comfortable with the

         19  results of a specific test and we ask for re- test,

         20  the schedule has been adjusted accordingly to ensure

         21  that all those provisions and requests coming from

         22  the Certification Board have been provided to their

         23  satisfaction.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  This Committee has

         25  information that the implementation was delayed
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          2  because of an outside arbitrator that forced the New

          3  York City Transit Authority to delay the

          4  implementation of this until July.  Is there any

          5  truth to that?

          6                 MR. SMITH:  I'm not familiar with

          7  what specific arbitrator or what information that

          8  you have.  Could you be specific on what that is,

          9  what that entails?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I just have some

         11  information. We're conducting this Hearing to get at

         12  the specifics, but --

         13                 MR. SMITH:  Well, I --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- If you're answer

         15  is that no, you --

         16                 MR. SMITH:  I can't speak if I --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Are not aware.

         18                 MR. SMITH:  -- Don't know the, I

         19  don't understand the question, specifically what

         20  you're asking.  We have not delayed our

         21  implementation process due to any arbitration

         22  hearing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, you're

         24  testifying that the delay in the implementation of

         25  the CBTC on the L Train was completely the decision
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          2  of the New York City Transit Authority and had

          3  nothing to do with any examinations or any opinions

          4  from outside arbitrators or outside review agencies

          5  that may have been offering their opinion?

          6                 MR. SMITH:  That's correct.  We are

          7  complying with our process that we've established

          8  for the Safety Certification of the CBTC system on

          9  New York City Transit.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Do you know Mr.

         11  Adelman (phonetic), who has some kind of arbitration

         12  responsibility?

         13                 MR. SMITH:  No sir.

         14                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yes, I do.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm sorry.

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yes, Adelman is the,

         17  is an arbitrator for New York City Transit.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And what has Mr.

         19  Adelman offered to you in terms of his opinion about

         20  this CBTC- operated train?

         21                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I have not been

         22  involved in any, any arbitration with Mr. Adelman

         23  regarding CBTC.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, it's your

         25  testimony that Mr. Adelman has nothing, or the
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          2  comments provided by Mr. Adelman have nothing to do

          3  with the delay in the implementation of the CBTC

          4  train?

          5                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Not to my knowledge.

          6                 MR. SMITH:  No, not to my knowledge.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  You testified --

          8  thank you very much.  I want to explore a different

          9  area now.  $288 million invested in implementing

         10  this system for the L Train.

         11                 MR. SMITH:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And, presumably,

         13  that includes some other costs that could pave the

         14  way towards implementing this on other subway lines

         15  as well?

         16                 MR. SMITH:  Yea, can I just clarify

         17  for a second? The $288 million figure we provided in

         18  the testimony is a sum total of the total investment

         19  in the Canarsie Line.  It does go beyond

         20  specifically employing CBTC technology.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  In other words,

         22  some of that cost can be used, can be spread out

         23  through the rest of the subway system?

         24                 MR. SMITH:  No, most of that cost is

         25  in specific hardware and infrastructure installed on
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          2  the Canarsie Line.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, the Canarsie

          4  Line, the L Train, is a very important subway line

          5  in New York City.  What percentage of the system,

          6  roughly speaking, are we talking about here, about

          7  the percentage of the subway system?  Is it --

          8                 MR. SMITH:  Five percent  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Five percent of

         10  the subway system, is it --

         11                 MR. SMITH:  One of 26 lines.

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  One of 22 lines.

         13                 MR. SMITH:  22.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  One of 22 lines --

         15                 MR. SMITH:  Less than five percent.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Ten mile lines,

         17  so it's not the longest line, it's, in fact, one of

         18  the shorter lines.

         19                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, we're talking

         21  about, I mean, if it's one of 22 and it happens to

         22  be one of the shorter lines, we're talking about

         23  maybe, you know, two or three percent of the system.

         24                 MR. SMITH:  Less that five, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, is there a plan
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          2  to keep CBTC on the L Train exclusively, or is the

          3  goal to implement CBTC on the entire subway system

          4  in New York City?

          5                 MR. SMITH:  The strategy, as we sit

          6  here today, if the CBTC project on the L Line

          7  achieves the goals that have been laid out for it,

          8  and it proves to be a cost- effective installation

          9  going forward, considering all the benefits that go

         10  with it, consideration will be given to go forward

         11  with a strategy to employ it on other lines

         12  throughout the system, yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, let me say

         14  that, if you say that $288 million was used just to

         15  set up the infrastructure on the L train, which is

         16  two, you know, say three percent of the system, then

         17  we are talking about tens of billions of dollars

         18  that will be necessary, actually, we're talking

         19  about $100 billion that --

         20                 MR. SMITH:  Let me --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Will be

         22  necessary to get us to, that will be necessary in

         23  order to implement CBTC throughout the entire subway

         24  system.

         25                 MR. SMITH:  Let me clarify --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON:  The reason --

          3                 MR. SMITH:  -- Maybe I confused you

          4  with my response.  When I said the $288 million is

          5  invested in the infrastructure, the hardware, I

          6  meant things like switches, CCTV, replacement of the

          7  yard equipment, yard signaling.  The $288 million is

          8  a sum total of an investment into the entire line.

          9                 So, regardless of whether CBTC was

         10  part of the $288 million, we would have spent

         11  approximately $200 million anyway refurbishing our

         12  existing signaling system.  So, going forward, we

         13  still are bound to maintain the system in a state of

         14  good repair.

         15                 The signaling system, when it comes

         16  due for replacement has to be addressed.  So,

         17  regardless of whether we go with CBTC or we replace

         18  in kind, we have a significant multi billion dollar

         19  investment in the signal infrastructure going

         20  forward over the next 30 to 50 years.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, you're saying,

         22  really, the CBTC system is costing you an additional

         23  $88 million on the Canarsie Line?

         24                 MR. SMITH:  No, that's not the

         25  correct figure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  But, you said that

          3  $200 million of it would be, would have, over the

          4  next --

          5                 MR. SMITH:  Over 200.  I don't have

          6  the specific breakdown of the costs.  We can provide

          7  that to you.  But, it is not $288 million invested

          8  in CBTC by itself.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, it's unclear

         10  what this system is actually costing the New York

         11  City Transit Authority currently?

         12                 MS. SMITH:  We can identify those

         13  figures for you. I just don't have them with me this

         14  afternoon.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, then, let's

         16  step back a little bit here.  First, I'm concerned

         17  that the Transit Authority is now implementing a

         18  system whose advent was in the 1960's.  Is that too

         19  far of a stretch for me to say or is that pretty

         20  much on target, that this system was created in the

         21  1960's?  There have been improvements, I would

         22  assume, but nonetheless, this is a system that's

         23  based on 1960's technology.

         24                 MR. SMITH:  No, the testimony

         25  provided for you, a little history of the
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          2  technologies and the second generation technology

          3  for train control, which is cab signaling, came

          4  about in the   '50's and  '60s.  CBTC, Communication

          5  Based Train Control, we consider to be a third level

          6  of technology.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, at this point,

          8  this is the most advanced practical technology

          9  available to upgrade the signal controls on New York

         10  City subways?

         11                 MR. SMITH:  Proven, proven

         12  technology, yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  In other cities,

         14  you mentioned the major cities that have

         15  incorporated this kind of system, London, would that

         16  be the oldest subway system that has this kind of

         17  system?

         18                 MR. SMITH:  London would be the

         19  oldest system that is considering CBTC during their

         20  rehabilitation of existing lines, yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And, are there, is

         22  the London subway system a model that New York City

         23  Transit would like to emulate in terms of the safety

         24  and efficiency of its operation?

         25                 MR. SMITH:  I can't speak to London's
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          2  view or London's position with respect to our

          3  system.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yea, but, I mean,

          5  don't, aren't you using London as a reason why it's

          6  okay to begin to implement this kind of system,

          7  because London has it, Paris has it, therefore, we

          8  should accept it for New York City's subways?

          9                 MR. SMITH:  The question with respect

         10  to the technology is a proven technology and our

         11  investigation and our demonstration project that I

         12  mentioned earlier that took place between 1992 and

         13   '97, has indicated to us that the technology is

         14  available and in use and is proven and, therefore,

         15  it was given consideration for our signal strategy

         16  at New York City Transit. That's the CBTC

         17  technology.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Is it the best

         19  choice to move ahead with the implementation of this

         20  new kind of system at significant expense before

         21  addressing the other issues in the system, the other

         22  operating issues in the system?

         23                 You know, we're talking about things

         24  like whether people can understand the announcements

         25  that come through on trains and platforms and also
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          2  the fact that we continue to hear reports of doors

          3  malfunctioning on subway cars and people having

          4  their arms or bags stuck in the cars and being

          5  dragged along subway platforms.  Are all of those

          6  being addressed?  Are all of those operational

          7  issues being addressed and is there a timetable for

          8  perfecting the system with regard to public service

          9  announcements and door safety before embarking on

         10  this newer technology?

         11                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yea, first of all,

         12  Chairman, we might have confused the London system.

         13  We'd like to emulate the London's OPTO system.  They

         14  have -- yea, the One Person Train Operation.  They

         15  have --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  So,

         17  you're emulating the London OPTO system?

         18                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We'd like to.  They

         19  have a great operating record for One Person Train

         20  Operation.  That's correct. Now, you also asked,

         21  have we, have we satisfied all of the safety issues,

         22  yes we have.  We have, on the line, the L Line, the

         23  trains that we're going to use are equipped with

         24  passenger intercoms.  They're equipped with

         25  information, automated information announcements.
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          2  They provide the customers with a whole lot more

          3  information than on most of our subway lines.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  We'll

          5  return to some more questions, but I want to hand

          6  the floor over to one of my colleagues.  We've been

          7  joined by Council Member Christine Quinn, through

          8  whose district the L Train also runs, Council Member

          9  Leroy Comrie and Council Member Charles Barron.

         10  And, we have questions from Council Member Sears, a

         11  Member of this Committee.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you Mr.

         13  Chair. Before I ask the question, I'm going to have

         14  to leave.  Do you have a quorum that we could vote?

         15  Okay, alright, fine, thank you.

         16                 My questions are, and I certainly

         17  appreciate what the agency is doing to really

         18  improve, upgrade and concentrate on the safety of

         19  the system.  I just have a few very quick questions.

         20    You mentioned testing on the non- revenue tracks.

         21  So, how often do you plan to test those that are in

         22  operation and remove the revenue the tracks, the

         23  trains that go on those revenue tracks?  How do you

         24  keep doing that?

         25                 MR. SMITH:  Testing has been going on
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          2  for approximately a year now, almost 12 months, as I

          3  said, during off- peak periods.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, alright.

          5    You make reference to some of the other subway

          6  systems, and I certainly rode the one in Paris.  New

          7  York City is the largest.  It's the largest.  It

          8  carries the greatest number of passengers and --

          9                 MR. SMITH:  In the United States.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes, yes, the

         11  United States.  What happens, and I don't quite

         12  know, because there are two issues.  One is the,

         13  your audio system and what you have on the trains

         14  itself and my big concern about that is unless you

         15  change those systems that are on the platforms for

         16  what those passengers hear inside that car or listen

         17  to in this system that comes up on a screen, because

         18  existing today and the system is, has always been

         19  something I preached at because I ride the subway

         20  system and I can tell you it speaks another

         21  language, one that may come from Mars, because very

         22  few people understand what it's saying.  Unless you

         23  have that system and you change on those platforms,

         24  I have a big concern about that.

         25                 MR. SMITH:  We --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I'm not sure

          3  how that would even function.  That's one.

          4  Secondly, in relocating the manpower, since you

          5  stated, I believe, that you are not letting any

          6  employees go, do you have where you relocate them

          7  and to what areas?

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Let me first answer

          9  the first question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay.

         11                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We are providing an

         12  audio visual, it's called PACIS, Passenger

         13  Announcements and Customer Information Signage.

         14  There will be an audio visual signs on every station

         15  on the Canarsie Line.  So, we recognize the need for

         16  improved communication and that's part of the

         17  program.  Also, the cars on the Canarsie Line are

         18  equipped with automated announcements, which are

         19  second, very good quality.

         20                 Regarding the displacement of

         21  employees, our attrition rate will take care of

         22  that.  We, none of the employees will be laid off or

         23  anything like that.  Our plan is to attrit them

         24  away, just not hire for the next six months or so.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well, does
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          2  that mean that if you have this automated system,

          3  the one who has been running that, what do you do

          4  with that individual?

          5                 MR. O'CONNELL:  They'll be --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  They might not

          7  be ready to retire.

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL:  No one is being

          9  forced to retire. No one is --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, my

         11  question is, if you put this system in operation --

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- And you're

         14  not going to have the conductor, that's one man,

         15  what happens to that individual?

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The individual --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  At the time

         18  when you're ready to go into operation, like the

         19  Canarsie Line?

         20                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Those individuals, we

         21  have a process, whereby we notify the employees that

         22  we're temporizing the jobs, and the employees who

         23  have a lot of seniority will pick other lines.

         24                 What happens to the, in this case,

         25  the employees with the least amount of seniority,
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          2  generally take those positions.  When the line is

          3  converted to OPTO, those employees will be dispersed

          4  to what we call our extra list and they will be

          5  filling in jobs for people who are sick or on

          6  vacation, jury duty a number of things.  They will

          7  be employed, they will be gainfully employed.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I think that

          9  needs further study.  What is on this automated

         10  train in your graphics there that speak to the

         11  people if there is an emergency such as a sick

         12  patient?  How does that passenger communicate --

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Each --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- To the

         15  central system --

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- And where

         18  does that automated system allow that train to stop?

         19                 MR. O'CONNELL  Each car, first of

         20  all, when there's an emergency, a sick passenger, we

         21  always stop in the station.  We don't encourage

         22  anybody stopping the train between stations because

         23  it's virtually impossible to get them any

         24  assistance.  So, once they've stopped the train in

         25  the station, the, every car is equipped with a
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          2  passenger communication device, which allows them to

          3  talk directly to the train operator who's in front.

          4  That train operator's equipped with a radio.  He is

          5  responsible for notifying the control center, who is

          6  responsible for notifying the police for medical

          7  assistance, if necessary.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay.  Just a

          9  thought, and then I'll, you know, we're ready for a

         10  vote.  Since you have such a long range plan for

         11  doing this to the entire system --

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  No, I --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  From what I

         14  read, from what I read, over, it's from your

         15  testimony, even though I came in a few minutes late

         16   --

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  -- I managed

         19  to hear you and read what you said, that I missed.

         20  What, and we think of capital projects, and I say

         21  this because some of us are on the Finance Committee

         22  as well, it would seem to me that in the capital

         23  project for your agency, that not only are you

         24  looking at the cost, but you're also looking at how

         25  you adapt the stations to this automated system.
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          2  So, I would think that in terms of your capital

          3  plan, that is something that certainly the Council

          4  needs to look at.  Because, even though it's over so

          5  many years, you've got to keep implementing that

          6  each year, and it is a staggering cost to do that.

          7                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yea.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  So, that's my

          9  suggestion and I think that's what we should look

         10  at, as well as how you're doing it and the, and all

         11  the other criteria that we're looking at.

         12                 MR. SMITH:  Our capital plan, as

         13  developed, as you know, we have benefitted from the

         14  ability to submit five year capital programs --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes, I know

         16  that.

         17                 MR. SMITH:  We're in the process of a

         18  current submission for a five year capital program

         19  going forward 2005 to 2009.  It lays out, as part of

         20  that process, we lay out a strategy.  We provide

         21  condition assessment on the entire infrastructure,

         22  cars, tracks, signals, pumps, fans, and lay out a

         23  strategy to maintain them, to achieve and maintain

         24  them in a state of good repair.  That is a strategy

         25  that covers up to 50 years to do that.  As part of
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          2  that process, we submit a plan to do it on five year

          3  intervals and submit that to the MTA.  It has to go

          4  through the State Legislature --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes, that I

          6  know.

          7                 MR. SMITH:  -- For approval, changes

          8  to that, any amendments have to be approved as well

          9  through the Legislature. So, that's the process

         10  we've been using to propose different strategies for

         11  the various infrastructure components and, if

         12  funding is provided, we proceed on that, and if the

         13  funding is not, we adjust accordingly.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  There's a lot

         15  more, but I thank you very much.  Thank you Mr.

         16  Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         18  Member Sears. We do have more questions on this

         19  issue.  We are going to take a two minute detour to

         20  another issue for the purposes of conducting a vote,

         21  and that issue concerns the minimum service and

         22  schedule requirements for the Staten Island Ferry.

         23                 This Committee had heard extensive

         24  testimony on Intro. Number 94- A at three separate

         25  public Hearings and we passed this bill favorably
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          2  out of the Committee.  The full Council also passed

          3  the bill and we had sent it to Mayor Bloomberg for

          4  disposition.  Subsequently, on December 29th of

          5  2004, the Mayor vetoed the bill and today we will

          6  now consider repassing Intro. Number 94- A

          7  notwithstanding the objections of the Mayor.

          8                 So, just so everybody's clear, this

          9  Committee will conduct two votes.  The first vote is

         10  upon a motion to receive and file the Mayor's

         11  message M416, vetoing Intro. Number 94- A, dated

         12  January 5th of 2005.  This is done for the purposes

         13  of completing the record.

         14                 A yes vote simply means that the

         15  message is accepted into the official record of the

         16  City Council proceedings and does not indicate

         17  agreement with its contents.  Does any Committee

         18  Member have questions concerning this first vote?

         19  There being no questions, I recommend a yes vote on

         20  accepting the Mayor's veto message for the record

         21  and request that the roll be called.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Liu.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Moskowitz.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Addabbo.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Mr. Chair,

          4  may I be very briefly excused to explain my vote?

          5  Oh, yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Martinez.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Seabrook.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sears.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of six in

         13  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         14  abstentions, the M is filed.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The Committee will

         16  now vote on the following substantive motion, shall

         17  Intro. Number 94- A be repassed notwithstanding the

         18  objections of the Mayor.  Before we call the vote on

         19  this Intro., I'd like to ask Council Member Michael

         20  McMahon, who is the prime sponsor of Intro. 94- A

         21  for his comments.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you

         23  Mr. Chairman, and I promise not to make lengthy

         24  comments, as this bill has been the subject of three

         25  Hearings and already a vote by this Committee.  I do
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          2  want to thank you, Speaker Gifford Miller, all the

          3  Members of this Committee and its staff who have

          4  seen this not as a local issue, but one of City-

          5  wide importance and have stood up for the ferry

          6  riders of this City, whether they be Staten

          7  Islanders or from other places.

          8                 I put in front of each of the Members

          9  a blue packet, which includes letters of support

         10  from the Chamber of Commerce, DC- 37, Staten Island

         11  Yankees, the Staten Island African American

         12  Political Association, and the Westerleigh

         13  Improvement Society, just as a sampling of support

         14  from civic association, people of color, the

         15  business people, the unions and a local business

         16  that is directly affected, as well as editorials and

         17  news articles from the Staten Island Advance, which

         18  contain many anecdotes and the report of the Staten

         19  Island Ferry Riders Committee, which tells a very

         20  simple story.  That is, that the Mayor, in his veto

         21  message, has decided to fight a battle of

         22  institutional power on the backs of the men and

         23  women who are simply trying to get work or to school

         24  every day to make a better life for themselves or

         25  for their families.
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          2                 Consider this, and it's in the report

          3  from the Ferry Riders Committee.  There's testimony,

          4  if you will, from a worker who works in a

          5  restaurant, who gets off of work at 12:30 at night.

          6  He cannot make the 12:30 boat and, therefore, he has

          7  to sit in the terminal for an hour and does not get

          8  home until about 2:30, quarter to three in the

          9  morning.  Two and half, three hours to get home

         10  every night.  Can you imagine that?  And, yet the

         11  Mayor says that we don't need this ferry service.

         12                 I also want to thank Council Member

         13  Gioia, whose Investigations Committee did a report

         14  and showed that the ridership is there, not only in

         15  the so- called off hours, but also in the morning

         16  and we're adding an extra boat in the morning.

         17                 I would just conclude by paraphrasing

         18  one of the Staten Islanders who said, to have a

         19  ferry run every hour at night or on weekends,

         20  especially at say 10:00 in the morning on a Saturday

         21  or a Sunday, when people have to get to work, is

         22  simply outrageous and unfair and should not be

         23  happening in the year 2005 and, therefore, let us

         24  say to the Mayor of the City of New York, that if he

         25  will not stand up and fight for the people who need
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          2  to get to work to provide for their families, that

          3  we in the City Council will.  I, therefore, urge my

          4  colleagues and thank my colleagues to vote yes to

          5  override this veto.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

          7  Member McMahon.  The Committee will now vote on the

          8  following substantive motion, shall Intro. Number

          9  94- A be repassed not withstanding the objections of

         10  the Mayor.  Again, I recommend a yes vote on

         11  repassing this bill and will the Clerk please call

         12  the roll.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member Liu.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Moskowitz.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Addabbo.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Mr. Chair,

         19  may I be briefly excused to explain my vote?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Please.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I do want to

         22  commend this Committee for the work that it had done

         23  on this bill and also to my colleague, Mike McMahon,

         24  for, again, for the residents of Staten Island to

         25  set the minimum standards, the minimum number of

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  runs that the ferry should operate, I think is

          3  essential to the service of the residents of Staten

          4  Island and the City, so I vote yes as a co- sponsor,

          5  thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Martinez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  I vote aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Seabrook.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sears.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of six in

         14  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         15  abstentions, Intro. 94- A is readopted.  Council

         16  Members, please sign the Committee reports.  Thank

         17  you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for your

         19  vote, Committee Members, and we will go back to the

         20  heart of the substance of this Hearing, which is the

         21  CBTC train systems.

         22                 We have questions from a number of

         23  Council Members.  I do want to go back to an earlier

         24  question, just for clarification, one more time.

         25  I'd like to ask you, Mr. O'Connell, you testified
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          2  that you are the Chief Transportation Officer for

          3  New York City Transit's Department of Subways.  You

          4  do know a Mr. Adelman?

          5                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Have you been, have

          7  you attended any arbitration meeting at which Mr.

          8  Adelman offered his comments?

          9                 MR. O'CONNELL:  On what subject?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  On CBTC.

         11                 MR. O'CONNELL:  No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  How about on OPTO?

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Not to my

         14  recollection.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, Mr. Smith,

         16  Fred Smith.

         17                 MR. SMITH:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I think, although

         19  you didn't identify yourself for the record, your

         20  colleague did identify you as Fred Smith, the Vice-

         21  President and Deputy Chief Engineer in New York City

         22  Transit.

         23                 MR. SMITH:  That's correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Earlier you

         25  testified you have no knowledge of a Mr. Adelman
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          2  that is engaged in arbitration proceedings, is that

          3  true?

          4                 MR. SMITH:  Mr. Adelman, personally,

          5  I don't know the individual.  If you're referring to

          6  an arbitration in the signal department.  I am aware

          7  of a arbitration on a signal pick issue.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And were you --

          9                 MR. SMITH:  That's why I asked you

         10  for clarification as far as what, what was the

         11  arbitration about.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Oh, sure, that's

         13  why I'm trying to clarify as much as I can now.

         14  And, so you do know Mr. Adelman?  Do you know the

         15  Mr. Adelman that we're referring to?

         16                 MR. SMITH:  I believe I do.  I

         17  believe I understand what you're asking.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I'm just asking if

         19  you know a Mr. Adelman that has to do with

         20  arbitration, and I think the answer is yes.  But,

         21  you're refining the issue to refer to a Mr. Adelman

         22  that was engaged in arbitration proceedings with

         23  regard to signal issues.

         24                 MR. SMITH:  Yes, that I'm familiar

         25  with, yes, that is the gentleman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  We'll

          3  come to back to this.  We have questions from

          4  Council Member Fidler.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Glad you guys

          6  had a little bit of a break because I'm not a happy

          7  camper and, in fact, the only thing that you said

          8  during your testimony that made me happy was your

          9  acknowledgment that conditions on the L Line were so

         10  crappy that they needed repair.

         11                 I'm especially concerned about the

         12  statement that you made that in June you intend to

         13  move to One Person Train Operation regardless of

         14  CBTC, because I think that's just as serious an

         15  issue.  You know, you testified, New York City

         16  Transit Authority does not now, nor has it in the

         17  past, any intention of eliminating train operators

         18  from our trains.  To those of us who, until now,

         19  were unfamiliar with the terminology, that sounded

         20  great.  But, what's unsaid in that statement is that

         21  you have every intention of removing conductors from

         22  the train, is that correct?

         23                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay, so,

         25  maybe you can explain to everybody here what in a
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          2  two train crew, what the responsibilities of a

          3  conductor are, and what the responsibilities of a

          4  train operator are.

          5                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The conductor is

          6  responsible for opening and closing the doors and

          7  ensuring that no one's stuck in the doors.  He's,

          8  the train operator is responsible for operating the

          9  train safely from one location to another.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And who's

         11  responsible for communicating with passengers?

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The conductor is.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And up to

         14  now, you've had OPTO only on certain trains and how

         15  is that decision made? What's the restriction that

         16  you have?

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Currently, today, the

         18  restrictions on, no, in the past, the restrictions

         19  were 300 foot train lengths, not to exceed 125

         20  percent of loading guidelines and transverse

         21  (phonetic) cabs.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And on the L

         23  Line, are the trains longer than 300 feet?

         24                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The restrictions are,

         25  the, they're essentially the same, with the
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          2  exception of the 125 percent loading guideline.  We

          3  requested from System Safety a hazard analysis, our

          4  System Safety, a hazard analysis about a year ago

          5  and we have, they have just recently approved our

          6  removal of the conductor.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, I'm not

          8  shocked that in a system where you want to remove

          9  the conductor that your own people have decided that

         10  it's okay, safety- wise, alright, but I asked you

         11  whether or not the trains on the L Train are longer

         12  than 300 feet.

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL:  They are 480 feet

         14  long.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And that's

         16  about two City blocks, right?

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I guess so, I'm not

         18  sure.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And with

         20  taking the conductor off the train and so the

         21  operator --

         22                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- In

         24  addition to his other responsibilities, is now going

         25  to have to assume the duties and responsibilities of
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          2  the conductor.

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  How are they

          5  going to do that?

          6                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Just like they do in

          7  our other six OPTO lines.  On the Canarsie Lines,

          8  we've added one ingredient, we've put CCTV cameras

          9  at every single station, in both directions, and we

         10  put a monitor at the train operator's position that

         11  will give him the full view of the entire train and

         12  make it safe to close the doors.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  But, first of

         14  all, you said just like you do on the other six

         15  lines and the fact of the matter is the other six

         16  lines are running trains that are 300 feet or less.

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Alright, so

         19  it's not just like you do on the other six lines.

         20                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Now, have you

         22  installed the CCTV cameras?

         23                 MR. O'CONNELL:  They will be

         24  installed by June.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And I would
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          2  submit to you that in all likelihood, they'll

          3  removed by people by July.  I mean, what, who are

          4  you putting on the station tracks to make sure that

          5  your CCTV system is not vandalized, made

          6  inoperative, spray painted, taken home, or any of

          7  those things?  Because, this is the City of New

          8  York.  It's not, you know, some place else.

          9                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We have, we have

         10  approximately 200 stations that already have CCTV

         11  presently, have had them for years to mitigate side

         12  door drags, and we don't really have a major

         13  problem.  Occasionally, one might be sprayed or

         14  graffitied and it's removed pretty quickly.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Are there

         16  token booth clerks at all those stations?

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yes there is.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, you have

         19  a token booth clerk at every station in which you

         20  have CCTV --

         21                 Mr. O'CONNELL:  I can't answer that

         22  for sure.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- I would

         24  like to know if you have any CCTV operations at a

         25  station that doesn't have a token booth clerk.
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          2                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I'd have to do a

          3  survey.  I think there is one or two, but I'd have

          4  to do a survey.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I'd

          6  appreciate it if you could get back to me with that

          7  information --

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- And then

         10  also tell me whether or not --

         11                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I'd have to get back

         12  to you, I'm not sure, but I think there's one.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, I'd

         14  like you to get back to me with that, and I'd like

         15  to have some statistics that would reflect the on-

         16  going maintenance of those systems at the unmanned

         17  station and the activity at that station in terms of

         18  passengers, as opposed to the other stations.

         19  Because, I think you'll find that your CCTV systems

         20  at an unmanned station are going to be very, very

         21  short- lived in the City of New York.

         22                 Now, let's get back to the conductors

         23  and the operators, because I'm incredibly concerned

         24  about that aspect of this system above all else, in

         25  fact.  How many subway derailments have there been
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          2  in the past several years?

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I think we had three

          4  last year, three main line derailments.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I think maybe

          6  you had four.

          7                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I stand corrected.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  And

          9  the years before that, is that a representative

         10  number, approximately four a year?

         11                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We, about three to

         12  four a year, I would say is about a representative

         13  number.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  How many

         15  track fires did you have last year?

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Several hundred.  I

         17  can't give you exact numbers though.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  How many

         19  smoke conditions above track fires, or were you

         20  including those together?

         21                 MR. O'CONNELL:  They'd be included

         22  together.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  How many

         24  health emergencies did you have on subway trains --

         25                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I'm not prepared --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- During the

          3  course of last year?

          4                 MR. O'CONNELL:  -- To give you the

          5  statistics, but there's been, there's been probably

          6  more than 50, I would say.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Only 50?

          8  Only 50?

          9                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Probably more than

         10  50.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I mean, would

         12  it fair to say --

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I'll say 100.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- There's

         15  maybe a thousand --

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL:  A couple hundred.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- A thousand

         18  incidents of --

         19                 MR. O'CONNELL:  No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Track

         21  fires, health, smoke conditions, derailments

         22  combined a year, fair?

         23                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I could say that if

         24  you lump them all together.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  What
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          2  are the roles of conductors and operators when these

          3  things happen?

          4                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Remember that on a

          5  system of almost 700 miles.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Oh, I'm well

          7  aware of that.  I mean, I'd ask you for the

          8  statistics for the L Line in particular, but I know

          9  that you're planning on doing this system wide.  So,

         10  you know, I'll try not to be so parochial as to only

         11  be concerned about my constituents.

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  What happens

         14  to a conductor or an operator, what's their role and

         15  responsibility in any of those emergencies?

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL:  To provide

         17  assistance.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, you're

         19  cutting that assistance in half by removing someone

         20  from the train, is that correct?

         21                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We don't believe

         22  that.  First of all, as I laid out to Ms. Sears

         23  before, the assistance is provided.  We're not

         24  medical professionals.  We, our job is when a

         25  medical problem occurs is to notify the appropriate
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          2  authorities to respond and resolve it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  You're going

          4  to have these intercoms on the subway --

          5                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Each car.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Now to

          7  communicate with the operator --

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Who's up

         10  to now, not supposed to interact with the

         11  passengers, the conductor was supposed to.

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We, with a two person

         13  operation, the conductor is more available to

         14  interact with the customers. On our present OPTO

         15  lines, there's six OPTO lines, that is the only

         16  person the customers can interact, is the train

         17  operator.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, no, but

         19  the operator's primary responsibility is to make

         20  sure the train gets from station to station safely,

         21  right?

         22                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct, as

         23  the --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Not to chat

         25  with the passengers.
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          2                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  So,

          4  now, this one person is being rolled into both of

          5  these responsibilities, assuming and you'll excuse

          6  my cynicism, that you're intercoms will remain

          7  working for a lengthy period of time.

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I find that

         10  troubling. Now, in a track fire, alright, which, you

         11  know, might require a train to stop in between

         12  stations, you know, albeit perhaps a station that

         13  doesn't have a token booth clerk either --

         14                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- 600 feet,

         16  two City blocks, who evacuates the passengers?

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The Fire Department

         18  is responsible for evacuating our customers.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  What happens

         20  when, as might well be the case, when smokes starts

         21  to permeate a car, do people panic?

         22                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Not if they receive

         23  instructions from the crew.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  What crew?

         25                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The train operator or
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          2  the conductor.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Oh, okay.

          4  So, we've, right.  So, now we're cutting it down to

          5  one person that's going to keep 600 feet of train

          6  passengers from panicking.  I mean I have great

          7  faith in our transit workers, but, you know, that's

          8  a big red S you're putting on their chest there.  I

          9  mean, you know, I know that if I'm sitting in a

         10  subway car in between stations, particularly

         11  underground, and smoke starts to come through the

         12  car and I can't breath, you're asking one person to

         13  keep everything under control when people start to

         14  head for that door? And, you know, they head for the

         15  door, I mean, do you have any statistics on how many

         16  times in fire or track conditions people self-

         17  evacuate?

         18                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Not with me.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Could you get

         20  them?

         21                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Probably.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I would

         23  appreciate it if you would provide us with that

         24  information, because, quite frankly, I think people

         25  have a natural inclination to self preservation and
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          2  when they can't breath --

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The reason I ask --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Because of

          5  smoke, they're going to move, and if there isn't

          6  someone who's familiar with this maze that we call a

          7  subway system on the, in the cars to help them, they

          8  may well be heading into further danger, as opposed

          9  to away from it, and heading towards a station that

         10  perhaps doesn't have any live personnel in it

         11  either, to come and meet them halfway and help them.

         12    I think -- is there anything inaccurate in that

         13  statement?

         14                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Well, other than the

         15  fact that, generally speaking, station personnel do

         16  not assist in evacuations.  People that are working

         17  in the tracks, signal personnel, track personnel,

         18  people of that nature generally assist us in

         19  evacuation.  Recently, we had a derailment on the

         20  Sixth Avenue line and there was smoke and a

         21  derailment occurred. The crew performed admirably,

         22  as well as the six or seven additional track people

         23  and signal people that showed up to assist in the

         24  evacuation, as well as the Fire Department and the

         25  Police Department.
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          2                 Generally, when these things happen,

          3  there's never a shortage of people to assist in the,

          4  assisting our customers. People like to respond and

          5  help.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, you

          7  said the additional signal and track people that

          8  were there to assist --

          9                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Well, yea, let me --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  Were

         11  those subway workers --

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Let me explain --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Working on

         14  the tracks?

         15                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Let me explain what I

         16  mean by that, we have a, an inter- communication

         17  network that once we're informed of this type of

         18  condition in our control center, they're obligated

         19  to notify each and every department, every operating

         20  department, including the police and the fire.  So,

         21  it's something that generally, they have been

         22  notified about the condition.  So, they're -- we

         23  expect them, we expect everybody to assist when

         24  possible.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And, you know
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          2  what? That's laudable, everybody should assist --

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- When

          5  possible.  And, I'm sure that when there are Transit

          6  workers that are working on signals or working on

          7  tracks in the vicinity, I'm sure that they do the

          8  right thing and they head towards the danger to try

          9  and help people.  And we'll get back to the fact

         10  that --

         11                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The only reason I

         12  brought --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- There are

         14  workers on the tracks in another point.  So, let's

         15  not forget that.

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  It just

         18  strikes me, sir, that by removing someone from the

         19  trains, you are increasing the level of danger and

         20  whatever money, you know, I apologize ahead of time,

         21  I'm a lawyer, I can't help it, so I think about

         22  lawsuits, and I can just imagine the price tag on

         23  the first lawsuit that's filed when someone gets

         24  hurt because they self evacuated on a train that had

         25  only one person on it to help them. Because that
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          2  person might have been at the front of the train

          3  helping the people in the first 300 feet and this

          4  person was riding the back 300 feet of the train,

          5  stepped down on the track, became injured.  You

          6  know, the price tag on that lawsuit, the lawyers fee

          7  on that lawsuit would pay to put 1,700 people back

          8  on the trains, so you could have two people on the

          9  crew.  So, I think, in those terms, you being penny

         10  wise and pound foolish.

         11                 Let me shift to another area for a

         12  second and you've talked about this and you're

         13  trying to tell us this is not new technology, yet I

         14  don't, you know, that's not my understanding.  Is

         15  there any other subway system, anywhere in the

         16  world, that has been retrofitted to a, and for this

         17  technology that is anywhere near as old as New York

         18  City's?

         19                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Philadelphia.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  How old is

         21  Philadelphia's system?

         22                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I don't know exactly,

         23  but it looks very old, the L structure's got to be

         24  about 100 years old.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, the
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          2  entire Philadelphia system has CBTC now?

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I know one of the

          4  lines, one of the older lines does.  I can't speak

          5  for the entire system.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  One.

          7                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I rode it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  One of the

          9  older lines has it and you don't know how old it is?

         10                 MR. O'CONNELL:  It looks very old.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And, so,

         12  that's the only one, one line in Philadelphia that

         13  approaches us in age?

         14                 MR. O'CONNELL:  To the best of my

         15  knowledge.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.

         17  That's, you know, I've never really felt that I

         18  wanted to follow the trend of Philadelphia, but

         19  that's a personal thing.  The train length, is there

         20  any system in the world, anywhere, that has 600 foot

         21  trains that has been retrofitted for this?  I'm not

         22  talking about systems that are built from scratch.

         23                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I think the RER in

         24  Paris.  But, I could get back to you on that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Isn't,
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          2  weren't the Metro lines in Paris built specifically

          3  for this system?  Lines 13 and 14, weren't they

          4  created for CBTC?

          5                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yes, but you asked

          6  about lines retrofitted.  I think there is one line,

          7  either it has been or it is being retrofitted.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Alright, so

          9  has been or is.  So, it's not -- to the best of your

         10  knowledge, you can't tell me that it's operational

         11  and there are 600 foot trains on it?

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Not at this moment.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  How

         14  about systems that have the quantity of steel dust

         15  that are generated by our heavy rail system?  Is

         16  there any system in the world that has been

         17  retrofitted that has that problem?

         18                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I can't answer you at

         19  this time. I'd have to have someone research it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  Is

         21  there any system in the world, and this goes to the

         22  benefits of train operating efficiency, that has

         23  dead ends, that have pockets where there are, you

         24  know, the trains that come in have only one line to

         25  come out, that have this system, that have been
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          2  retrofitted to this system?

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Could you repeat the

          4  question?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, let me

          6  repeat it by explanation, I mean, when you come to

          7  the terminus of the L Line, you know, for a train to

          8  come back and go the other way, they have to use the

          9  same tracks that they came in on.  There's a switch,

         10  a bottleneck, if you will, that inherently is going

         11  to delay trains coming back and forth.

         12                 Anyone whose ridden New York City

         13  subway systems has heard, you know, we're waiting

         14  for a train in the pocket, okay?  I mean, I grew up

         15  on the Flatbush IRT, and if I could have back the

         16  hours, minutes and days of my life spent between

         17  Newkirk (phonetic) and Beverly (phonetic), waiting

         18  for a train to leave the Flatbush Avenue pocket, you

         19  know, I'd have another year to live.

         20                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The terminal, the

         21  best I can answer that is terminal configuration is

         22  not -- we don't, most, most lines, most subway

         23  systems configure their terminals similar to the way

         24  we do.  So, I would imagine anybody's that

         25  retrofitted would probably experience the same
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          2  design.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay, I've

          4  been asked to move along.  So, I'm just going to hit

          5  on two other topics very quickly.  I'm extremely

          6  concerned about the method by which you intend to

          7  communicate with these trains and you're going to do

          8  this by radio frequency, is that correct?

          9                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  You having

         11  any problems with that technology at this point?

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Radio communication?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Yea, with

         14  your test trains?

         15                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Not that I'm aware

         16  of.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  No?  You're

         18  not abandoning the 2.4 gigahertz frequency that

         19  you're testing now on the L Train for further

         20  projects?

         21                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I know we're

         22  exploring a signal, a radio communication program.

         23  I'm not familiar with the specifics of it though.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, it's my

         25  understanding that the L Train is supposed to
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          2  operate on 2.4 gigahertz frequency and that as you

          3  look at your next projects, you're looking at other

          4  technology to communicate with the trains because

          5  that's not working.

          6                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I'm not aware of it

          7  not working. I mean, what I can imagine is that the

          8  technology changes so fast, there's probably a

          9  better communication device out there. By the time

         10  we put this in, one better has come along.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, you'll

         12  excuse my post- 9/11, post- Madrid paranoia, but

         13  what assurances can you give me that no one's going

         14  to be able to hack into that radio wave and hack

         15  into your computer system and make a train

         16  disappear?

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I'm not qualified to

         18  answer that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Has someone

         20  at the TA asked that question?  I mean, you're the

         21  most knowledgeable person here, so.

         22                 MR. SMITH:  At the present time, the

         23  2.4 gigahertz is the radio frequency that's been

         24  provided for in the current CBTC project.  As Kevin

         25  testified going forward, we are open to
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          2  consideration of other alternatives with respect to

          3  the frequency and/or technology.  But, as of today,

          4  if the answer of your question is have we changed

          5  the current 2.4 on this project, the answer is no,

          6  not as of today, no.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  No, I know

          8  you're not changing it on this project and, of

          9  course, I'm concerned that if you're going to change

         10  it on the next project, if you have to come back and

         11  spend more money to retrofit the technology here.

         12  But, the question that I asked that was left

         13  unanswered is, has anyone at the TA asked the

         14  question as to how hack- proof this radio frequency

         15  and communication system is, and whether or not

         16  someone is going to be able to hack into your

         17  computer system and make a train disappear?  Has

         18  anyone asked that question and gotten an answer that

         19  I can tell my constituents in Canarsie should make

         20  them feel safe?

         21                 MR. SMITH:  We'll have to get back to

         22  you on that. I'm not, I can't answer that right now.

         23    I'd have to poll the people involved in the

         24  project.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  The cost
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          2  issue that Chairman Liu was referring to earlier, am

          3  I correct in understanding that the base contract

          4  with Siemens and its joint venturer was for a $135

          5  million?

          6                 MR. SMITH:  133, I believe.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, the cost

          8  of this project has to be at least $135 million,

          9  right?

         10                 MR. SMITH:  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And have

         12  there been overruns and punch lists and, I mean,

         13  you're a year behind, so there would have to have

         14  been, right?

         15                 MR. SMITH:  There has been work added

         16  to the base contract.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And do you

         18  have any idea how much that work has cost?

         19                 MR. SMITH:  I don't have those

         20  figures in front of me.  We can provide those to

         21  you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I would ask,

         23  I'd ask that you do that and I'd imagine that that

         24  cost must, at this point, exceed $200 million.  So,

         25  you know, I don't know how we get to the figures on
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          2  this project, but that $288 million figure certainly

          3  sounds like the Siemens contract at this point to

          4  me, and that the phenomenal cost of this project on

          5  two percent of the subway line leaves me to be

          6  extraordinarily concerned about how much this is

          7  going to cost overall.

          8                 My last question is this.  You're a

          9  year behind in implementing this on the L Train, and

         10  for that I'm thankful, because a year ago, I hadn't

         11  heard you were doing it.  I really only stumbled

         12  upon this on the tangential issue of your, the

         13  inconvenience to merchants at the subway stops that

         14  you were closing down.  Tell me if any of these

         15  statements aren't true as we're sitting here today.

         16  First of all, the system isn't able to stop trains

         17  precisely where they are supposed to stop yet.  True

         18  or false?

         19                 MR. O'CONNELL:  They are not able to?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  They are not

         21  able to stop the trains precisely where they're

         22  supposed to.

         23                 MR. O'CONNELL:  It's not true.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Not true.

         25  You've tested that completely?  They absolutely stop
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          2  where they're supposed to when they're supposed to?

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  That's

          5  contrary to what testimony I think we'll have later.

          6    Are you able to locate the trains with the system?

          7    Are the on- site odometers working?

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The portion that's

          9  been activated in our new rail control center, we

         10  can locate each and every train.  Just --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  The on- board

         12   -- I'm sorry.

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The, we have a model

         14  board in our new control center and on the board it

         15  displays the line from end, it shows the line from

         16  end to end.  Right now, only half of it is working

         17  and we're able to, but the half that's working,

         18  we're able to locate each and every train.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And are you

         20  able to measure the speed accurately through the

         21  system?  Is that, is the optical speed measurement

         22  equipment working?

         23                 MR. O'CONNELL:  To my knowledge, it

         24  is.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, I think
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          2  we may hear from the people on the line that that's

          3  not.  I am not, I've been admonished not to be a

          4  pig, so I'm going to turn the floor back over.  But,

          5  I have to tell you, I think you've left more

          6  questions unanswered than answered this morning.

          7                 I think that there are issues that

          8  relate to the safety and I didn't even get to the

          9  safety of the workers on the track.  I know you have

         10  an internal dispute within the TA as to whether or

         11  not to turn this system off when there's track work

         12  happening or whether you're just going to slow the

         13  trains down. You can't even agree amongst

         14  yourselves, so you acknowledge that there is a

         15  hazard to Transit workers.

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Can I comment on

         17  that?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Sure.

         19                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's not true.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  He doesn't

         21  want you to though.

         22                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's okay, he

         23  doesn't work for me.  But, that's not true.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  He'll be

         25  working for Siemens in about six months, though.
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          2  Sorry, I don't know this gentleman, that was not

          3  fair.

          4                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Sure wasn't.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  But, there

          6  are a number of people who left the TA to work for

          7  Siemens, right?

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Sir, let me comment

          9  on your statement that there's a disagreement about

         10  the flagging procedures internally.  There was a

         11  disagreement, we had a healthy exchange of opinions

         12  and we have resolved it and we have an agreed

         13  procedure for workers working along the right of

         14  way.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Have the

         16  Transit workers been part of that discussion?

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Have Transit workers

         18  been part of the discussion?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Yea, I mean,

         20  they are the people who's health and safety you're

         21  talking about now.

         22                 MR. O'CONNELL:  No.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I think

         24  that's kind of unfair, don't you?

         25                 MR. O'CONNELL:  No.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  No?  Okay.

          3  Well, we respectfully differ.  Unfortunately, we

          4  respectfully differ on many, many issues here, not

          5  the least of which is whether or not you've answered

          6  questions that make me feel comfortable telling my

          7  constituents that this is going to be safe, that

          8  OPTO is a fair system to put on New York City

          9  subways, which are unique in the world in so many

         10  ways, and whether or not the benefits of CBTC and

         11  OPTO outweighed by the billion dollar costs, maybe

         12  multi- billion dollars costs, of implementing it.

         13  Thank you very much Mr. Chairman.  I apologize for

         14  stealing the floor.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         16  Member Fidler. I have a couple of follow- up

         17  questions right now and then we have other Members

         18  who would like to ask questions.  I think one of the

         19  issues that we very concerned about is that although

         20  you testified that you are able to stop the train

         21  where you desire so, it is still, you still do not

         22  have the capability of knowing exactly where track

         23  workers may be along certain stretches of track and

         24  that does pose a danger and that, in fact, was one

         25  of the causes for the internal disagreement and as
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          2  you term it, healthy debate that ensued.  I think

          3  that still remains an issue, because if the train

          4  movement is being controlled by this communications-

          5  based system, it does create more hazards for the

          6  workers who are on the tracks.

          7                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We don't believe

          8  that's true.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, if you don't

         10  know, if the computer is driving the train, which it

         11  will be, right?

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  When a track worker

         13   -- if no, if no permanent type of zone flagging is

         14  established and a track worker is doing inspection-

         15  type work, ATO must, when the track worker notifies

         16  the control center, the ATO portion, the automatic

         17  portion of CBTC will be inhibited.  The rule

         18  requires that any time the ATO has been inhibited,

         19  the train operator must expect to find track workers

         20  on the right of way.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  That's a

         22  fair comment for you to make.  What, and Council

         23  Member Fidler started questioning this area.  How do

         24  you get information, the CBTC, Communication Based

         25  Train Control, that communications is, you plan to
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          2  base that communications on radio signals, is that

          3  true?

          4                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yes, that's correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The current system

          6  that you have in place throughout the Transit system

          7  identifies the location of subway cars based on a

          8  communications system that is hard wired.

          9                 MR. SMITH:  No.  There is no

         10  communications system.  There is our standard,

         11  traditional, conventional signals.  Our current

         12  system doesn't provide for a communication of where

         13  every train is.  The new CBT system does have a

         14  feature called automatic train supervision, which

         15  now will provide for us the means to know where

         16  every train is on the line all the time. We do not

         17  have that today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Assuming that the

         19  radio signals are fully functional.  Radio signals,

         20  there's a reason why, often times, police officers

         21  are not able to communicate with each other when

         22  they're in the subway system, is that correct?

         23                 MR. SMITH:  Different frequencies.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  But, nonetheless,

         25  this entire system is predicated on a radio wave-
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          2  based communication system.

          3                 MR. SMITH:  But there is

          4  infrastructure that's provided, antennas in the

          5  tunnels in order to provide for that radio

          6  communication.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The Paris system

          8  that you tout, is that based on radio wave

          9  communications or is that based on hardware.

         10                 MR. SMITH:  It's based on something

         11  called inductive loop, which is still not connected.

         12    Induction means there's a signal induced in a hard

         13  wire, piece of cable, just like an antenna that's in

         14  the infrastructure.  So, you're not making constant

         15  contact with the wire, it's separated, just like

         16  sending a radio signal.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, I don't think

         18  so.  I think the radio signal is much more far

         19  ranging or supposed, intended to be much more far

         20  ranging.  The inductive loop is, perhaps there is no

         21  actual physical contact, but the physical wires that

         22  you would conduct this, that you would term this

         23  inductive loop are no, are very near each other,

         24  physically, so --

         25                 MR. SMITH:  So is the antenna that
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          2  runs in the subway.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The antenna is not

          4  going to be anywhere near as close to all the

          5  radios, the receivers that rely on that antenna as

          6  the inductive loop connections are.

          7                 MR. SMITH:  There's a safety provided

          8  in the system allows that if communication is

          9  broken, like your cell phone, if you can't make a

         10  call, the train stops.  Train stops.

         11                 MR. O'CONNELL:  It's a fail safe

         12  system.

         13                 MR. SMITH:  It can't go.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

         15                 MR. SMITH:  No communication, train

         16  stops.  That's the safety feature.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  We have

         18  questions from Council Member Barron.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

         20  Chairman Liu. This is incredible, you know, I mean,

         21  your testimony, I must say, Chairman, I just have

         22  maybe one or two comments to make.

         23                 I would feel more comfortable if you

         24  and Council Member Fidler was running the system,

         25  because you seem to know more.  This is not a
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          2  people- friendly system you're putting in place.

          3  How could you sit here and tell us that people have

          4  to wait on the train for the fire department to

          5  come?  Or just run out on their own and you not be

          6  concerned about that?

          7                 You don't even, you haven't answered

          8  any of the questions about the safety of track

          9  workers.  We, I don't trust that all of that

         10  relocation when people, they're going to be fired

         11  eventually, I think jobs are going to be lost.  This

         12  is incredible that you can come before this Council

         13  and not have answers to Council Member Fidler's

         14  questions, which are fundamental and basic, and it

         15  seems like you just could care less about people on

         16  the trains and safety.

         17                 You really failed today and I think

         18  this is an embarrassment for our Council for you to

         19  come this unprepared. I'm not going to even ask you

         20  a question, because I'm scared of what might not be

         21  answered.  This is a disaster waiting to happen.  I

         22  don't care what you said about the train in

         23  Washington having the back- up stuff.  If you guys

         24  are in charge of this, Mr. Chairman, we are in

         25  trouble.  We are in big trouble.  I wish the City
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          2  Council had more than oversight power.  I wish

          3  somebody had the power to stop you, because this is

          4  very serious.

          5                 We had a fire in the train station in

          6  my neighborhood and if it wasn't for the conductors

          7  and if it wasn't for people working together to get

          8  folk out of there, it would have been a disaster

          9  with your plan and with your non- thinking about how

         10  we evacuate people, how the Transit workers on the

         11   -- and then you're having discussions about the

         12  lives of Transit workers and won't even include

         13  them, and you say that's fine with you.

         14                 This is a pathetic testimony.  It's

         15  an embarrassment and I hope we can do all we can,

         16  Mr. Chairman, to stop this.  I'm so glad that

         17  Council Member Fidler brought this to the public's

         18  attention to show how little lack of concern that

         19  you have and it's in mainly in communities of color

         20  that we're getting this little guinea pig test of

         21  yours.  So, I don't have no questions for you.  This

         22  is am embarrassment and, Mr. Chairman, I thank you

         23  for the Hearing and Council Member Fidler, for your

         24  questions.  I wish you were running the system, I

         25  would feel much safer of what we're going to do with
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          2  this.  It's incredible.  I've never heard of nothing

          3  like this in my life. I'm outraged.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

          5  Questions from Council Member Quinn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.  I

          7  just want to say and echo Charles' statement

          8  applauding Council Member Fidler and the Chair,

          9  Chairman Liu, for coming forward and really focusing

         10  attention on this issue.  As was said before, the L

         11  Train runs through my district.  I represent from

         12  the north side of Canal to 55th Street, mostly on

         13  the West Side.  So, there's a number of spots where

         14  the L Train is obviously in my district.

         15                 Maybe I missed it and if I did, I'm

         16  having to publicly say, I screwed up or you know,

         17  really figure out who in my office didn't open the

         18  mail and didn't address it.  But, when did I receive

         19  notification that this was happening?  And let me

         20  ask you clearly, we get a lot of mail from you guys

         21  that says, like, you know, three or four or five or

         22  six pages of changes in the bus schedules.  And, I

         23  always give those to my staff and they look through

         24  and they come back to me and tell me what the

         25  changes are, the routes in my district.  So, one,
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          2  did we get something general like that?  But two,

          3  did I get something, which is what I think I should

          4  have gotten, as one of, there's not that many

          5  Council Members who have the L Train in their

          6  district.  So, it seems to me I should have gotten a

          7  particular letter as an L Train representative, so

          8  to speak.  Did I get either of those?

          9                 MR. O'CONNELL:  I can't answer your

         10  question.  I wouldn't know what specifically was

         11  sent to your office.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  So, does that

         13  mean that the protocol is when --

         14                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Ms. Tenler just said

         15  that the 2000, it was given, it was brought up at

         16  the 2003 community board meeting?  They wrote to the

         17  community boards in 2003 to advise them of it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Who are not

         19  elected, who are terrific, dynamite, fabulous, but

         20  not elected.  That's unacceptable.  Even if this is

         21  the greatest idea since sliced bread, I don't really

         22  understand how you could do something like this and

         23  not notify the elected officials.

         24                 And, what that makes me think is,

         25  when I have a good idea, I usually tell like
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          2  everybody 12 times, because I think it's a good

          3  idea, and I think, I want people to know, I'm proud

          4  of it, and I think people can galvanize around it.

          5  I don't tell people typically when I've had an idea

          6  that isn't a good idea.

          7                 It really makes me wonder how great

          8  you thought this idea was when you didn't scream

          9  about it from the highest point you could get.

         10  Also, whether you were really, I mean, as Council

         11  Member Fidler pointed out, you know, the workers

         12  haven't been involved in some of these discussions.

         13  I don't really understand why you wouldn't have

         14  engaged the local elected officials in these

         15  discussions.  So, I, as it relates to this, but just

         16  on broader points, would urge you to go back and

         17  review your elected official outreach and I'd like

         18  to receive communication about how we changed to

         19  better keep elected officials advised of changes.

         20                 Now, that said, who's doing what,

         21  when on the L? I don't get it.  Like, who's left on

         22  the train when this happens?

         23                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The train operator.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And that is

         25  how many people?
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          2                 MR. O'CONNELL:  One.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And it used to

          4  be?

          5                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Two.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And that

          7  person's going to do everything?

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That is correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  That just

         10  seems crazy and dangerous and.

         11                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We've been doing it

         12  since 1996 on six of our other lines.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Great, but I

         14  don't know that, that it's a good idea, I mean, and

         15  I'd love to see all the data on that.  But, I don't

         16  understand how this can work on this particular

         17  train line, which is a very, with this, a lot of the

         18  other train lines in the City, people have other

         19  options if they want to -- I mean, if you're an L

         20  Train rider, that's it.  That's basically you're, no

         21  pun intended, lifeline.

         22                 Let me go back to the, I'm very, you

         23  know, as one of the people who represents, as I said

         24  the L Train, I'm very, very concerned for all the

         25  reasons the Chair and Council Member Fidler have
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          2  already outlined, that this is going to be a

          3  terrible idea.  I want to go back to one of the

          4  things Council Member Sears raised.  You said that

          5  people who presently have this job, who aren't ready

          6  to be attrited out will be moved around sick days,

          7  jury duty, et cetera.

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL:  They'll be

          9  reassigned, that's correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  You know,

         11  maybe if you, maybe, if you have a month left until

         12  you're going to retire, it's okay to sub in for

         13  people who are sick or on jury duty. But, that

         14  sounded like a terrible assignment for somebody who

         15  actually wants to have a career in our mass transit

         16  system.

         17                 I mean, how are they ever going to

         18  build up any skills or experience or expertise if

         19  people who could have become first- rate, you know,

         20  top of the line operators or conductors are now

         21  going to be the floating, you know, substitutes?  It

         22  doesn't seem like a fair, it doesn't seem like those

         23  people are actually keeping their jobs, their real

         24  concept of a job.

         25                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We have
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          2  approximately, in the division this is occurring,

          3  approximately 300 extra list people that are used

          4  every day to support vacancies.  This is a part of

          5  our normal way of doing business.  The next pick,

          6  the union is entitled, the membership is entitled to

          7  two picks a year.  When the next pick comes up,

          8  those people who were dislocated will have the

          9  opportunity to pick other jobs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  But, the 300

         11  floaters, that's not the word you used, but whatever

         12   --

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL:  They're called extra

         14  list personnel.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  The extra

         16  list, the 300 extra list personnel, you're putting

         17  people on to the extra list, who that wasn't their

         18  job.  They had a regular full- time job.

         19                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yes, but they have

         20  been notified that we, our, of our intention.  We

         21  have notified them that the jobs will, they're

         22  identified as temporary jobs, and that means to the

         23  employee, that at any time during the life of that

         24  pick, the job will be eliminated.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I hope you
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          2  notified them, because I'm sure you're bound to

          3  under the contract.  But, that doesn't, that's not

          4  the point.  I'm not saying --

          5                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We do it because it's

          6  the responsible thing to do.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Well, I don't

          8  know that you can make that broad- based statement

          9  about your notification policies.  But, I think

         10  you're missing my point.  I don't think it's equal

         11  to say just because the, the issue of a job, the

         12  biggest thing is obviously getting your paycheck.

         13  But, there's more to a job than that and now these

         14  folks are going to have had, you know, a full job

         15  that they did.  Now, yes, they're going to go to

         16  work, evidently they're going to get paid.  I just

         17  don't think it's quite the same thing to say that

         18  they're not going to be in one specific assignment

         19  is as good of a thing.  I think saying that there

         20  really isn't an impact on the work force is not

         21  actually an accurate statement about the impact it's

         22  going to have on somebody's work life.

         23                 Now, once those people are attrited

         24  out, that line is lost, right?  So, the overall work

         25  force will be going down.
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          2                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That is correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And you have

          4  no concerns about what impact that might have on

          5  our, on the overall system, losing those lines

          6  permanently?

          7                 MR. SMITH:  In actuality, the

          8  conductor position in the transportation department

          9  is really no different than all our other titles due

         10  to the large numbers of people we employ at New York

         11  City Transit.  We deal with a significant attrition

         12  rate every year and, of course, we adjust up and

         13  down as the needs for providing service.  So, over

         14  the course of the year, we're going to have natural

         15  attrition from people leaving the system.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  But, sometimes

         17  you then fill those positions, the line doesn't

         18  disappear.

         19                 MR. SMITH:  Hiring goes on throughout

         20  the year to backfill empty positions.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  But, these

         22  lines will be gone.

         23                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The conductor on

         24  those lines will be eliminated.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.
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          2                 MR. SMITH:  There's still conductors

          3  throughout the entire system.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  No, no, I

          5  understand that, but --

          6                 MR. SMITH:  Many, many jobs, hundreds

          7  and hundreds of jobs.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  -- But the

          9  overall, however, whatever number of conductors

         10  there were on this line that you're planning on

         11  attriting out, that number will be gone from the

         12  overall work force permanently.

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL:  And that is correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And you have

         15  no concerns about the impact that that might have on

         16  safety or et cetera?

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL:  We have concerns and

         18  we've addressed all the safety concerns.  We feel we

         19  have.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Alright. Well,

         21  obviously, I think there's a lot of disagreement on

         22  that from the rest of the Council and I will await

         23  your letter about how you'll be better informing us

         24  in the future.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Council

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  Member Addabbo.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

          4  Mr. Chair.  Mr. Smith, Mr. O'Connell, I do

          5  appreciate your time and testimony today.  But, I

          6  must add my concern for the safety and security of

          7  the residents of New York City.  At a time when New

          8  York being in a different place in the view of the

          9  world these days and across the City we're improving

         10  our security measures, here, you are possibly giving

         11  individuals, possibly a terrorist, an opportunity,

         12  and we know they take advantage of opportunities,

         13  such as reduced manpower.  So, there again, I think

         14  we're moving, you're moving in the wrong direction.

         15                 But, I do have a question with

         16  regards to the cost.  Again, the $135 million figure

         17  has been thrown out there. Is that the ballpark

         18  figure, roughly, at this point?

         19                 MR. SMITH:  That was the original

         20  base contract to the joint venture.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  How does

         22  this fit in with the current fiscal crisis, so to

         23  speak, with the MTA, that the MTA is experiencing

         24  right now?  How does that fit in with the whole

         25  fiscal situation?
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          2                 MR. SMITH:  Well, as I mentioned

          3  earlier, we have proposed a program for the next

          4  five years, which is consistent with strategies for

          5  the various infrastructure elements of track,

          6  signals, cars, line structures, fans, pumps, going

          7  forward.  Can I answer to your question that

          8  regardless of whether CBTC itself is part of the

          9  signaling strategy, we still need hundreds of

         10  millions of dollars on an annual basis to maintain

         11  the signal infrastructure, the conventional wayside

         12  signals.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Right, but

         14  at this given moment, given, again, the current

         15  fiscal situation of the MTA, MTA has no problem with

         16  this kind of proposal in its questionable status at

         17  this point?

         18                 MR. SMITH:  Well, one of the

         19  considerations back in the  '90's, when CBTC

         20  technology was considered, was cost, definitely

         21  going forward.  The conventional wayside signaling

         22  system that we have had in effect since 1904 is, is

         23  a lot of equipment on the right of way that has to

         24  be maintained.  It's mechanical, electro- mechanical

         25  equipment.  So, the CBTC has a reduction in wayside
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          2  equipment.  So, we should read a cost reduction in

          3  maintaining that amount of infrastructure along the

          4  right of way.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  You

          6  mentioned in the '90's.  I know 1997 this L Line was

          7  looked at to start this kind of proposal.  What has

          8  happened in the eight years since 1997? Has there

          9  been prior testing of this proposal and it has not

         10  gone so well?  What has happened since 1997?

         11                 MR. SMITH:  I think I spoke to the

         12  time period '92 to  '97 as the demonstration period

         13  for various suppliers, offering CBTC technology.

         14  The actual contract for the Canarsie Line

         15  installation was awarded in 1999.

         16                 So, for the last five years, we have

         17  been working to install equipment along the wayside,

         18  replacing conventional signals that exist today in

         19  the locations where the switches are, we refer to

         20  them as interlockings.  So, those are all brand new.

         21  New cabling and wiring into the signal relay rooms

         22  is all brand new.  So, a tremendous amount of

         23  conventional wayside work has been on- going during

         24  that time frame.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And I know
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          2  in the testimony as well, you had compared our

          3  service to services similar in your mind to

          4  throughout the country, throughout the world.  Has

          5  this type of proposal, this proposed system, the

          6  CBTC, has it ever been used in underground or

          7  underwater systems?

          8                 MR. SMITH:  Underground subway, yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Underwater?

         10                 MR. SMITH:  You mean systems that

         11  pass under rivers or whatever?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Right.

         13                 MR. SMITH:  I'm not familiar with all

         14  the geography of all the different systems, whether

         15  specific lines cross under a body of water.

         16  Personally, I can't answer your question.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Again,

         18  whenever New York City is compared to other parts

         19  around the country, around the world, I'm sort of

         20  skeptical about that.  To be more clear, again, my

         21  question was CBTC, and also include OPTO.

         22                 The other question I have is this and

         23  lastly.  You had mentioned that a certain amount of

         24  workers will be reassigned.  I think Mr. O'Connell

         25  used the word reassigned.  As Chair of the Labor
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          2  Committee, I'm obviously concerned about the jobs

          3  here, safety first, then security, but jobs as well.

          4    These reassigned employees or workers, are they

          5  reassigned to similar jobs at similar pay and

          6  similar working conditions?

          7                 MR. O'CONNELL:  That's correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  They are?

          9  They will be reassigned to similar pay, similar

         10  working conditions?

         11                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Okay.  Thank

         13  you very much Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         15  Member Addabbo.  I want to thank you gentlemen for

         16  being patient with us today and for answering many

         17  of our questions, admittedly, some of them difficult

         18  to answer and some of them easier to answer.

         19                 So far, from what I've heard from

         20  you, and we will hear from a number of other people

         21  which, who I believe, will have vastly different

         22  opinions than the ones that you have offered, but I

         23  do have to state my concerns that it appears that

         24  there are still questions remaining about the safety

         25  of this system.
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          2                 You make many comparisons to other

          3  systems in other cities.  The system that you're

          4  looking to install in the New York City subway

          5  system is different, and one of the key reasons that

          6  it's different is because the communications of the

          7  Communication Based Train Control is different from

          8  the others.

          9                 I appreciate your comments that

         10  inductive loop communications does not actually

         11  encompass actual physical contact all the way

         12  throughout the system.  But, to say that a radio

         13  system based on antennas is largely the same thing,

         14  is a stretch.  So, I think that this is a system

         15  that actually is not in use in other cities, the way

         16  you envision it for the L Train and in the future

         17  for the rest of the subway system.

         18                 Because of the delays that have

         19  already occurred in large part due to some

         20  disagreements and some malfunctions, based on

         21  reports provided to the October 2004 MTA Committee

         22  Meeting, that, again, it's very important to look

         23  before we leap. This is a big leap that the New York

         24  City Transit system is about to take, and I hope

         25  that we can urge you to proceed cautiously and make
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          2  sure everything is in place, all the t's are crossed

          3  and i's are dotted before you embark on this journey

          4  of letting computers run our subway systems.

          5                 So, with that, we, this Committee

          6  will continue to monitor the progress of this plan

          7  of yours thoroughly, and we will ask you to come

          8  back to a future Hearing on this topic, particularly

          9  if and when you actually implement this system on

         10  the L Train.  Thank you.

         11                 MR. SMITH:  Thank you Chairman Liu.

         12                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Thank you.

         13                 MR. SMITH:  Thank you Members of the

         14  Council.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We are going to

         16  hear brief testimony from a representative of

         17  Brooklyn Borough President Marty Markowitz and then

         18  we will hear from Roger Toussaint, the President of

         19  Transport Workers Union, Local 100.  Perhaps Mr.

         20  Rossmy is, oh, there he is.  Please proceed Michael.

         21                 MR. ROSSMY:  Thank you Chairman Liu.

         22  Good morning Chairman Liu and Members of the

         23  Transportation Committee.  My name is Michael Rossmy

         24  and I'm testifying on behalf of Brooklyn Borough

         25  President Marty Markowitz.
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          2                 The Resolution that is the subject of

          3  today's Hearing calls for an Oversight Hearing on

          4  the implementation of the Communication Based Train

          5  Control system on the Canarsie Line and the further

          6  intentions of New York City Transit regarding the

          7  continued assignment of train conductors to subway

          8  trains in New York City.

          9                 As you know, from the Borough

         10  President's testimony at MTA's hearing on the fare

         11  increase that was held in Franklin Lane High School

         12  in Brooklyn, Marty Markowitz is a firm believer in

         13  keeping the subway system user friendly, keeping the

         14  subway system user- friendly, that maintains a

         15  continuing decrease in crime, that employs human

         16  eyes and ears, and that literally has a human face.

         17                 This quality is as important as

         18  reliability in the state of good repair.  For that

         19  reason, the Borough President is opposed to the

         20  closure of token booths.  One of Marty Markowitz'

         21  other concerns on this matter is that it would

         22  threaten the employment of valued Transit workers.

         23                 The Borough President also testified

         24  that MTA is underfunded by the State and the City of

         25  New York and that this underfunding has contributed
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          2  to MTA's current fiscal crisis. Whatever the outcome

          3  of Peter Kalikow's and Katherine Lapp's efforts to

          4  fashion a balanced program to fund MTA.  It is

          5  essential that the system be restored to a state of

          6  good repair, that stations be rehabilitated and that

          7  bus and subway fleets are replaced on a regular

          8  basis and that the largest subway system on this

          9  continent deserves the best technology, so that the

         10  best Transit workers can do the best job for the

         11  people of the City.

         12                 The population and economic engine of

         13  this City are expanding and the subway system must

         14  be managed as efficiently as possible.  There are

         15  several high density corridors in this City and

         16  several heavily utilized lines in Brooklyn.  One way

         17  to manage the system and get the most bang for the

         18  buck is computer- controlled or assisted train

         19  operations. The CBTC system is an engineering tool

         20  to minimize the effects of congestion and provide

         21  greater flexibility.  It will ostensibly enable the

         22  subway system to operate beyond the limits of the

         23  old signal system we have today.  The Borough

         24  President believes that the planning and research

         25  for this project was started over ten years ago to
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          2  bring the system into the 21st century, and that it

          3  is not the results of MTA's underfunding.

          4                 Other cities that have computer

          5  operated train control systems include San

          6  Francisco, and I think we've heard a lot of this

          7  previously, Vancouver Air Train, Washington, DC,

          8  Lyons, France and Orlando Airport.  This CBTC system

          9  is already on the JFK and Newark Air Trains and was

         10  implemented on one of Paris' lines in 1999, all

         11  without the train operator that would reportedly be

         12  retained by Transit.

         13                 The Borough President is aware that

         14  the CBTC system is being implemented first on the

         15  Canarsie Line because it is, it is a distinct line

         16  and that the next phases would include the Seven

         17  Train on the Flushing Line and the F Train on

         18  Brooklyn's Culver Line.  Marty Markowitz, for one,

         19  has argued for the return of express service on this

         20  line, that being the Culver Line, and more service

         21  is one thing Downtown Brooklyn certainly needs.

         22  Marty has been advised that Transit has no plans to

         23  operate fully automated trains or trains without an

         24  operator on board.

         25                 The Borough President is aware that
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          2  there are a number of concerns regarding this

          3  system, the CBTC system.  That is why Marty

          4  Markowitz invited New York City Transit to make a

          5  presentation to the Brooklyn Borough Board one year

          6  ago in January, 2004.  During that presentation, the

          7  Borough President learned that when implemented on

          8  the Canarsie Line, the L Train will be operated by

          9  computer, but monitored by a train operator.

         10                 The Borough President has since

         11  learned that the CBTC system is being modified to a

         12  system that communicates by radio to overcome the

         13  pervasive problem of steel dust in our system.  The

         14  Borough President believes that there are legitimate

         15  concerns I expressed by, that have been expressed by

         16  others, that should be addressed, including the

         17  safety of Transit operations, system reliability,

         18  whether one train operator will be adequate to

         19  monitor the train's performance and operate the

         20  doors, reconciling Transit's policy to bring the

         21  system into the 21st century, with the need to keep

         22  the system user- friendly and others.

         23                 With regard to oversight, this

         24  Committee may want to develop a set of performance

         25  criteria that would address concerns for safety, the
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          2  best use of transit resources, consistency with

          3  applicable worker standards and the rights of

          4  workers to continued employment.

          5                 But, fundamentally, the Borough

          6  President's chief concern about the communications-

          7  based train control project and other projects is

          8  MTA's failure to communicate.  The City Council and

          9  the Chief Executives of the five boroughs, the

         10  Borough Presidents who represent the citizens of New

         11  York, are not represented on the MTA Board and are

         12  not part of MTA's oversight process.

         13                 The Governor and the Mayor and the

         14  suburban county executives have a role in the

         15  management of the MTA.  The City Council and the

         16  citizens of New York have been left structurally or

         17  organizationally out of the communication loop

         18  unless extraordinary efforts such as this Hearing

         19  are undertaken.  The need for communication that was

         20  also demonstrated last year, when Gary Kaplan, MTA's

         21  Chief Financial Officer, appeared here, best

         22  illustrates the need to give the Borough Presidents

         23  a seat on the MTA Board.  If the county executives

         24  of the suburban counties are represented on the MTA

         25  Board, the Borough Presidents, as representatives of
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          2  the City's population, should as well.

          3                 Although the Communication Based

          4  Train Control system may be effective in enhancing

          5  operational flexibility on the subway, the limited

          6  availability of information and participation in MTA

          7  oversight has contributed to the concerns of the

          8  community, operators and other elected officials for

          9  safety, system reliability, manpower redundancy and

         10  maintaining a user friendly environment.

         11                 These concerns should be addressed as

         12  soon as possible.  One solution to increase the flow

         13  of information on this and other projects would be

         14  to provide the Borough Presidents a seat on the MTA

         15  Board.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Mr.

         17  Rossmy for your testimony today.  At this time, I'd

         18  like to ask Roger Toussaint, the President of the

         19  Local 100 of the Transport Workers Union to join us

         20  and we also have Randy Nevels, also from Local 100,

         21  TWU. Following this panel, we'll have, we would like

         22  to invite Elliott Sclar, Tresa Horney and William

         23  Stanford.

         24                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         25  I believe Elliott Sclar has to leave, so I think his
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          2  testimony could be something that's put on the

          3  record?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Sure, that's fine.

          5                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Thank you Mr.

          6  Chairman and Members of the Committee, Councilman

          7  Fidler.  Okay, thank you.  We are gratified that

          8  this Council and this Committee are addressing the

          9  question of direct concern to tens of thousands of

         10  riders today and millions of riders tomorrow.  The

         11  importance of developing New York's system of mass

         12  transportation is not in question here. In question

         13  are two points, the caution and thoughtfulness

         14  needed in bringing new technology into a century-

         15  old subway system and the folly of New York City

         16  Transit's instinct to seize on every turn as an

         17  excuse for diminishing the human presence in that

         18  system.

         19                 The starting point to providing mass

         20  transit, to improving mass transit, is ensuring the

         21  safety and security of all riders.  New York City

         22  Transit's approach to automating the L Line departs

         23  sharply from this.  This new technology, known as

         24  computer based, Communication Based Train Control is

         25  in use on several new subway lines built expressly
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          2  to accommodate this technology.  Perhaps the best

          3  known among these is the Meteor, number 14 Line in

          4  Paris, a line about five miles in length, with eight

          5  stations.

          6                 The Canarsie Line is about twice that

          7  length and has three times the stations.  But, the

          8  most important difference is this, the Meteor Line

          9  was built from scratch in the 1990's to demonstrate

         10  the viability of this technology.  The Canarsie

         11  Line, as we know it, was in service by 1928, and

         12  elements of it date back much further.

         13                 A few weeks ago, a New York City

         14  Transit spokesperson assured us that "this is proven

         15  technology used around the world."  This is mistaken

         16  on two counts.  Firstly, some key aspects of this

         17  technology are different from that on the Meteor

         18  Line.  The Meteor uses inductive loop and New York

         19  uses radio frequency.  The Meteor has platform doors

         20  and New York has none, and so forth.  When you have

         21  changed key components in a complex system, you

         22  cannot claim that this is proven technology.

         23  Secondly, and more importantly, a retrofit differs

         24  fundamentally from using the technology on a newly

         25  created line.
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          2                 Retrofitting is in the air.

          3  Manufacturers are highly enthusiastic for

          4  retrofitting, which would provide a bigger market

          5  than newly built systems alone.  And several transit

          6  systems are thinking about it.  But, if automatic

          7  train operation were to come into passenger service

          8  on the Canarsie Line in 2005, this would be the

          9  first.  No subway line of this age has yet been

         10  retrofitted with this technology.

         11                 New York is a 24/7 system and our

         12  Maintenance of Way crews work on tracks with trains

         13  hurdling by.  How the safety of our crews is to be

         14  ensured under automatic train operation is a matter

         15  of serious contention.  New York City Transit does

         16  not have an adequate plan for protecting our

         17  members' safety. Because of this, last week an

         18  arbitrator barred any testing of the L Line trains

         19  in automatic mode until a further hearing in July.

         20  The lack of an adequate plan for track safety is

         21  clear indication that New York City Transit is

         22  rushing ahead willy nilly to bring this technology

         23  into revenue service.

         24                 One factor that seems to be driving

         25  this rush is the desire to show immediate financial
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          2  benefits to justify the large expenditures that have

          3  been made.  Since there will be no short- terms

          4  benefits in revenues, New York City Transit has

          5  married, has married to the new technology a plan to

          6  take conductors off the trains.  This plan flunks

          7  the basic test of common sense.

          8                 In a system where breakdowns,

          9  passenger illnesses, fires, power failures and

         10  flooding are not uncommon, two person crews are

         11  needed to assure passenger safety.  In a post- 9/11

         12  world, the presence of trained personnel is one of

         13  mass transit's appeals.  Even if conductors did not

         14  have ongoing duties in the course of each run,

         15  taking conductors off the trains would be foolhardy.

         16    But, of course, conductors have important duties.

         17  Only in the imagination of technocrats can an

         18  operator on a full length train who is overseeing

         19  the operation of the train from the head car, also

         20  successfully perform a conductor's duties.

         21                 L Trains are more than 480 feet in

         22  length, nearly two City blocks.  At the height of

         23  rush hour, with crowded platforms and crowded

         24  trains, a train cannot safely clear the platform

         25  without a conductor surveying the length of the
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          2  train from its mid- point.

          3                 No one would be more adversely

          4  affected by loss of conductors than disabled riders.

          5    Taken together with the closing of station booths,

          6  this would be an open invitation to disaster. For

          7  years, New York City Transit has been, has been

          8  pressed to make the system more accessible to the

          9  disabled.  But, now, New York City Transit is

         10  threatening to take two giant steps away from

         11  accessibility.  In times of emergency, and in the

         12  humdrum of the daily commute, conductors are an

         13  important guarantee of the safety and security of

         14  our riders.

         15                 The installation of new technology on

         16  the Canarsie Line is a pilot project.  This means

         17  that it will be followed closely by projects on

         18  other lines.  The Canarsie Line will set the pattern

         19  as to whether new technology is harnessed to safely

         20  serve subway riders, or whether the riders are to be

         21  guinea pigs in the proving of this technology.

         22                 For this reason, it is crucial that

         23  the technology be subject to an objective process of

         24  testing and certification at each step.  Excuse me.

         25  Objectivity requires independent certification by an
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          2  in- house organization of New York City Transit.  As

          3  has been the process up to this point, this in-

          4  house certification cannot assure the public of the

          5  objectivity of the process, nor can the role of a

          6  consulting firm that is under contract to New York

          7  City Transit.  Only certification by an independent

          8  board, established under the authority of duly

          9  elected bodies, can provide the public this

         10  assurance.

         11                 Similar and separate studies should

         12  be conducted on the safety and security implications

         13  of removing conductors from the trains.  This is a

         14  plan that stands or falls on its own merit.  This

         15  Council has an important role to play in this matter

         16  and we hope that a Council Resolution will be

         17  forthcoming to that effect.  Thank you.

         18                 I'm joined here by Pete Foley from

         19  our staff, Dennis Boyd (phonetic) from one of our

         20  focus groups, working on the Communication Based

         21  Train Control and a couple of vice presidents of our

         22  operations, Mr. John Samuelson, Mr. Ronnie Nevels,

         23  to assist in answering any questions that the

         24  Council may have.

         25                 Let me just take the liberty to
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          2  address just two quick points on the previous

          3  testimony that I heard.  One was the L Train

          4  derailment that occurred at the beginning -- I'm

          5  sorry, the F Train derailment that occurred in the

          6  beginning of December.  As it occurs, the derailment

          7  occurred as the train was moving over a track job

          8  site and that accounted for the presence of track,

          9  and signal and other employees present to help in

         10  the evacuation.  But, in fact, the passengers had

         11  started to self evacuate and were it not for the

         12  fact that there was a conductor present, there were

         13  57 people on the train, and the conductor evacuated

         14  37 passengers out through an emergency exit.

         15                 Now, fortunately, this derailment

         16  occurred just after 4:00 in the morning.  Had it had

         17  been three hours later, instead of 57 people on the

         18  train, you would have had more like 2,000 to 2,500

         19  people, and that conductor would have been

         20  responsible for evacuating as much as 1,500 people.

         21                 People, obviously, I think Council

         22  Member Fidler was right, people do not wait when

         23  they feel threatened by a smoke condition for the

         24  arrival of the Fire Department.  The Fire Department

         25  played no role in getting the people off the trains

                                                            125

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  onto the catwalks and down into the station.  Our

          3  people, and particularly the conductor, led the

          4  largest group.

          5                 The other thing is that there was

          6  mention of an arbitration and I just want to be on

          7  record here that both of the gentlemen who just

          8  testified, Kevin O'Connell, as well Fred Smith, were

          9  present at the arbitration, which happened just over

         10  a week ago, at which the arbitrator directed a cease

         11  and desist on further implementation of automatic

         12  train operation, including testing, until a hearing

         13  in July.  So, we can get some documentation of this

         14  to the Council.  But, I think that the record needed

         15  to be clarified to that effect.  So, I just wanted

         16  to touch on those two points before I take

         17  questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Mr.

         19  Toussaint for joining us and I want to thank your

         20  team as well.  That last point that you made is one

         21  of interest to this Committee.  We certainly expect

         22  that we would be, we would hear forthright testimony

         23  from everybody who appears before this Committee.

         24  I'd like to get the documentation that you offered

         25  up.  But, what was that arbitration hearing and what
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          2  did it have to do with the implementation of CBTC?

          3                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  The arbitration

          4  centered around whether a signal pick was going to

          5  proceed.  Signal workers about to engage in a pick

          6  transfer and there was, the issues and concerns as

          7  to whether their safety on the tracks was properly

          8  accounted for once automatic train operation and

          9  computer based, Communication Based Train Control

         10  occurred during the life of the pick.

         11                 The arbitrator accepted the union's

         12  contention that there wasn't sufficient assurances

         13  provided by Fred Smith and Kevin O'Connell at that

         14  arbitration and directed a cease and desist because

         15  of the risk that track, crews on the tracks would be

         16  subjected to under automatic train operation.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Did the two

         18  gentlemen who testified before, Kevin O'Connell and

         19  Fred Smith testify at that hearing?

         20                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Fred Smith testified,

         21  Kevin O'Connell was present for the entire hearing.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And that was

         23  testimony in front of Mr. Adelman?

         24                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Yes, but they were

         25  both present for the entire discussion.  Fred Smith
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          2  testified, Kevin O'Connell was present, but both of

          3  them were present for the entire arbitration.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And the arbitration

          5  was just on signals as Mr. Smith --

          6                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  The arbitration was,

          7  the origin of the arbitration is a dispute by signal

          8  crews, saying that they would be at risk.  The

          9  arbitrator said that he was not satisfied with the

         10  assurances and he was directing them to not proceed

         11  with automatic train operation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  When was this

         13  arbitration hearing?

         14                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  January 8th, last

         15  Friday.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, the Transit

         17  Authority representatives testified that they were

         18  about to, they were originally intending to

         19  implement this system by the end of December, 2004,

         20  and that the implementation had been delayed until,

         21  at this point, July.  We asked very clearly was that

         22  because of their own decision- making or was that

         23  because of some decisions or opinions that had been

         24  rendered by entities outside the Transit Authority.

         25  In your opinion, was that a decision solely made by
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          2  Transit Authority to delay the implementation?

          3                 MR. TOUSSAINT: I think the delay from

          4  this December implementation, what accounted for

          5  that is the flaws in their own safety system and

          6  these internal disputes.  The arbitration occurred

          7  in January.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, thank you.

          9  We have questions from Council Member Addabbo.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         11  very much Mr. Chair.  Mr. Toussaint, I do appreciate

         12  your time and testimony, as well as the panel's time

         13  and testimony today.  Just, again, a couple of

         14  things that were said by the prior panel, whether

         15  you agree or not.  Number one, again, the Labor

         16  Committee is very concerned about the jobs that are

         17  in question.  So, they said the conductors will be

         18  reassigned at the same pay, same working conditions.

         19    Do you agree with that statement?

         20                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  That they will be

         21  reassigned? They have given those assurances that

         22  they don't intend to do any layoffs, if that's what

         23  you mean.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Are you

         25  confident that that is the case?
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          2                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Well, you can never

          3  fully trust the Transit Authority, but they, right

          4  now, our train crews are very short- manned.  As an

          5  example, to get a day off, you've got to put it in

          6  almost a month in advance.  So, they, people are

          7  currently heavily overworked.  So, I could imagine

          8  they can very easily find work through

          9  reassignments.  Our, our principal concern here is

         10  the obvious risk to public safety by removing

         11  conductors off the trains.  It is frightening, given

         12  New York, given everything that New Yorkers know

         13  about the subway system.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  What is your

         15  opinion when New York City, the system is compared

         16  to cities around the country and around the world,

         17  do you see New York City as having a different,

         18  unique kind of system and obviously New York City's

         19  place within the world today and post- 9/11, do you

         20  think that it's fair to compare our system with

         21  other systems?

         22                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Not at all.  I think

         23  it's unique in many respects, some of which have

         24  been mentioned here. Obviously, in post- 9/11 and

         25  post- Madrid, New York is an open target and rather

                                                            130

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  than reducing safety and the envelope of security,

          3  we ought to at least be maintaining it.  I would

          4  argue that the appropriate body should consider

          5  putting a cop on every train to provide and increase

          6  passenger safety going forward, rather than removing

          7  personnel from the train.

          8                 I shudder to think that what would

          9  happen at the next serious smoke condition with a

         10  loaded train in a tunnel or in a station, especially

         11  with all of the, all of the hazards have been

         12  enhanced, not only the problem with automatic train

         13  operation, Communication Based Train Control, but

         14  now you have high entry/exit turnstiles, right? You

         15  have limited egress from the stations, the first

         16  time someone is trying to get through a turnstile

         17  and collapses under smoke conditions, they'll create

         18  an absolute bar to anyone else getting out of that

         19  gated environment.  And, it's going to happen, as

         20  sure as we sit here, unfortunately.

         21                 So, it is exactly the wrong move to

         22  talk about stripping, removing personnel from the

         23  trains,  Conductors, for instance, are required

         24  under discipline for not observing the platform as

         25  the train pulls out of the station, as an example.
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          2  Now, all of sudden, they're saying this is no longer

          3  necessary, but they have been giving our people time

          4  in the street up the ying- yang over this issue.

          5  Now, they're saying this is, a train operator could

          6  observe a closed- circuit television in his cabin in

          7  front and there's no more need to observe the full

          8  length of the, to observe the train as it exists the

          9  station.  People have been fired, fired for this.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Of course.

         11  One last question, I understand there is legislation

         12  being drafted on the State level --

         13                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  -- With

         15  regards to this actual issue, do you want to

         16  elaborate on what you know of that legislation?

         17                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Right.  We're

         18  introducing legislation that will be carried by

         19  Assemblywoman Kathy Nolan (phonetic) to ensure that

         20  staffing levels on trains not be diminished, that a

         21  conductor remain on the train, where the train

         22  travels is over an open body of water, bridge or

         23  under river tube or has a certain length in excess

         24  of four cars.  It has a capacity, a load in excess

         25  of several hundred, we think that that's just
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          2  prudent.

          3                 It is, it is, it's not inventing the

          4  wheel, there are starting level requirements

          5  associated with nurses in public schools and several

          6  other areas of public concern, moving the subway

          7  system, moving the four point something million

          8  people a day that Kevin O'Connell, it seems to me

          9  that it's a very, it's a minimum that we can do in

         10  terms of assuring a certain level of staffing for

         11  trains, which the capacity on the IRTs at height is

         12  2,500, on the IND, it's 3,500.  To have two people

         13  attending to 2,000 to 3,000 people, it seems to be a

         14  very good bang for the buck.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         16  Mr. Chair and I look forward to a Council Resolution

         17  supporting that legislation by Assemblywoman Kathy

         18  Nolan.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         20  Member Addabbo.  One final question, there's a lot

         21  of, we keep hearing the mention that conductors are

         22  being removed from the subway trains, isn't it the

         23  driver that's being removed?

         24                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Yes, the driver is

         25  being removed and there's going to be, that's going
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          2  to be, that's, there'll be significant safety issues

          3  there as well.  Maybe Randy can address the driver

          4  issue.  Mr. Nevels has more than 20 years as a

          5  driver himself.

          6                 MR. NEVELS:  Good morning Council,

          7  Chairman Liu and Members of the Committee.  I thank

          8  you for this opportunity to speak on this issue.  In

          9  terms of the driver, are you referring to the train

         10  operator?  Is that who you --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The train operator,

         12  the motor man --

         13                 MR. NEVELS:  The motor man.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Whoever is

         15  making the train go and stop.

         16                 MR. NEVELS:  Okay.  At this point in

         17  time, that person is the person that's going to be

         18  on the train.  What they --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Can you identify

         20  yourself for the record?

         21                 MR. NEVELS:  Oh, my name is Randy

         22  Nevels.  I'm the Vice- President of RTO for TW Local

         23  100.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

         25                 MR. NEVELS:  In terms of who's going
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          2  to remain on the train, that is the individual that

          3  they intend to keep on the train, the conductor is

          4  the person that they intend to remove.

          5                 In our opinion, in terms of having a

          6  working knowledge of this system and how vital that

          7  individual is, I'm talking about the conductor now,

          8  to the crew, it's unimaginable that they would

          9  consider taking, you know, that individual off the

         10  train, because the responsibility that that

         11  individual carries is tremendous.  He is the person

         12  that people go to when they have some sort of

         13  problem.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Sure.

         15                 MR. NEVELS:  And I just wanted to say

         16  that there was one thing that was mentioned in the

         17  testimony earlier when Mr. O'Connell and Mr. Smith

         18  were asked about the responsibilities of this

         19  individual and one thing they omitted, and I think

         20  President Toussaint alluded to it just a few seconds

         21  ago, is that one of his prime responsibilities is to

         22  make sure that when that train leaves the station,

         23  it leaves the station safely, that nobody comes in

         24  contact with that train by trying to jump between

         25  the cars or anybody that might just happen to fall
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          2  into the cars. He has the ability to see that and

          3  basically pull the emergency cord to stop that

          4  train.

          5                 Once that train leaves the station,

          6  all the CCTV cameras in the world are not going to

          7  help anybody who comes in contact with that train

          8  because the train operator will not be able to see

          9  the platform train line once that train leaves the

         10  station.

         11                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Just let me add to

         12  this on the point of the, the role of the train

         13  operator.  Currently, our train operators on our

         14  trains, there's a dead man feature, where continuous

         15  pressure has to be applied in the event that a train

         16  operator, the train operator succumbs to a heart

         17  attack or some ailment, heaven forbid, the train

         18  goes immediately into emergency, if continuous

         19  pressure isn't applied, that's the dead man's

         20  feature.

         21                 That dead man's feature is also the

         22  ability of the train operator to dump the train, so-

         23  called, without, without having to do anything else

         24  to stop the train, it throws the train into

         25  emergency.  That becomes especially important for
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          2  instantaneous responses as you enter a station and

          3  you see someone that look like they might be a

          4  jumper, and we get them on more than one a week, on

          5  average, almost two a week, right?

          6                 Or, if you're driving through

          7  sections of the track, underground track rail or

          8  over a trackway, and you see employees on or around

          9  the tracks, now the, so I do think that it is a

         10  point to it means that you're removing the driver as

         11  well as you alluded.  You're removing the driver

         12  because you can, you, there can be, there's too

         13  many, too much room or enhanced room for lapses.

         14  Someone could not be paying attention or can or can

         15  doze off and the computer, because the computer is

         16  doing the job. So, I think that the, there's

         17  enhanced danger taking place and it is, in fact, the

         18  removal of the driver and putting the train under

         19  computer control.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes, and that's a

         21  point that I think has to be made very clear to the

         22  public, that even though it is the conductor person

         23  that will be reassigned or given the choice to be,

         24  to take another position and that the driver or the

         25  person who used to operate the movement of the
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          2  train, will remain on the train, the fact is the

          3  function of operating the movement of the train will

          4  now go to a computer.

          5                 That's something that, that is the

          6  huge leap that I think it is incumbent upon all of

          7  us on this Committee and in this Council to get the

          8  word out to the public that that is the change.

          9  Conductors are invaluable in terms of serving the

         10  passengers, being a go- to person for the

         11  passengers, communicating with them and in cases of

         12  emergency, directing the riding public on what to

         13  do.  But, here we're also talking about the transfer

         14  of probably, in my opinion, the most important

         15  function of the operation of that train, which is

         16  making it go and making it stop.

         17                 MR. NEVELS:  Chairman Liu, may I just

         18  comment on what you just said? Because you had asked

         19  a question earlier in regard to the train making a

         20  proper station stop.  Now, I recently had been on

         21  one of the test trains that they talk about on the J

         22  Line, and what they did, basically, was use a

         23  computer disk to actually facilitate the train

         24  movement.

         25                 The train could not make a proper
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          2  station stop. It could not make an emergency stop in

          3  the sense of if there was some type of instantaneous

          4  situation to arise, that that train would take an

          5  immediate emergency break, if there was a signal

          6  compliance that had to be dealt with, that train did

          7  not recognize that.  So, there's a lot of different

          8  things in their testing that, you know, remains to,

          9  you know, be improved upon.

         10                 In terms of, you know, the actual

         11  essence of what can be done with that train right

         12  now? The question wasn't asked, but right from the

         13  rail control center that right now supposedly

         14  controls system- wide train movement and

         15  communications, as we talked about the Communication

         16  Based Train Control, that rail control center right

         17  now cannot produce the functionality to actually

         18  control train movement and give, you know, the

         19  information to those computers to make that train

         20  function as it's designed to do, or supposed to be

         21  designed to do.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  I want

         23  to thank you President Toussaint and your team for

         24  joining us today and for being -- oh, I'm sorry,

         25  excuse me, we have questions from Council Member
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          2  Fidler.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  You think I

          4  possibly could have resisted?  I will try and be

          5  brief, but there are a couple of things I wanted to

          6  bring out.  And, Mr. Chairman, you actually made one

          7  of the points.  What they're actually doing is

          8  they're removing the conductors and making the

          9  operators the conductors because they don't want to

         10  tell people that they're removing the operators from

         11  the trains.

         12                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And that is

         14  just as disingenuous as them sitting here and

         15  pretending not to know about an arbitration hearing

         16  that happened three days ago, and making you, Mr.

         17  Chairman, ask them a dozen questions, like, Adelman,

         18  you know, Adelman who?  You know, like, they weren't

         19  in the same room with the guy testifying before him

         20  on an issue that they absolutely had to know you

         21  were asking them about.  So, I think a lot of what

         22  we heard this morning from the Transit Authority was

         23  a song and a dance, and it makes me really wonder

         24  about the questions that they did ostensibly answer

         25  directly as to whether or not they were being fully
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          2  truthful.

          3                 On the issue of OPTO, are there any

          4  legal impediments to them operating a one person

          5  train under, in a river tube, that you're aware of?

          6                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Not that we're aware

          7  of.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  No? You don't

          9  require --

         10                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  That's the purpose of

         11  our legislation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  And,

         13  you have some familiarity with what their test

         14  results have been, up to now.  I believe Mr. Nevels

         15  just said he was on one of the test trains. To the

         16  best of your knowledge, you've already said that the

         17  trains don't stop on the mark, which is contrary to

         18  what Mr. O'Connell said earlier, are the odometers

         19  working on board?

         20                 MR. NEVELS:  Well, yes the odometers

         21  are working. You can tell, you know, basically, how

         22  fast the train or the, you know, the speedometers,

         23  that what we refer to them, you said --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Actually, the

         25  question is, the equipment on board that actually
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          2  locates the train, functioning or not?

          3                 MR. SAMUELSON:  No.  In a Carter

          4  Burgess (phonetic) Report, it was a oversight

          5  contract that they have over these contracting

          6  issues.  In their October report to the MTA Board,

          7  they said that the on- board computer unit odometer

          8  is malfunctioning.  They had to remanufacture them,

          9  get a whole bunch more.  I was out in October also

         10  on the L Line, they were doing a test, they were

         11  supposed to run two trains as close together as they

         12  could.  They couldn't even get it to the next

         13  station, and they sat there the whole day.  You know

         14  they --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Do you have a

         16  copy of that report?

         17                 MR. SAMUELSON:  Yes I do.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Could you

         19  make that available to the Council?

         20                 MR. SAMUELSON:  Absolutely.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And --

         22                 MR. SAMUELSON: There's a whole lot of

         23  other issues they had with the trains being lost

         24  around corners, things like that that are issued in

         25  here.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And the speed

          3  measurement equipment, does that work?

          4                 MR. SAMUELSON:  That was faulty also.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, when they

          6  testified that everything's tested out, all the

          7  safety stuff, everything is working, and that's why,

          8  you know, that's got nothing to do with why they're

          9  not, they're putting this off until July of 2005,

         10  that doesn't sound accurate to you, does it?

         11                 MR. SAMUELSON:  Not at all.  They're

         12  under big pressure from the budget people to get

         13  this thing working.  I mean they spent hundreds of

         14  millions of dollars, there's big overruns.  They

         15  didn't even talk about the cost of the rail command

         16  center, which is vital to this system and the fiber

         17  optic network, that's hundreds of millions of other

         18  dollars, which they'll be able to use in the other

         19  lines, but it's all part of the cost of this system.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I have no

         21  question that they're under tremendous pressure from

         22  the budget people to get this running, and that if

         23  they have to throw their hands up and say, hey, you

         24  know what? It doesn't work, it's not safe, then

         25  heads would roll.  That's exactly what concerns me.
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          2                 Roger, you made reference to the

          3  independent analysis and during Mr. O'Connell's

          4  testimony, he testified that the Safety

          5  Certification Board requires the involvement of an

          6  independent safety assessor, which has been

          7  Battelle, a premier testing and research firm.

          8  Battelle has presented its findings directly to the

          9  System Safety Certification Board throughout the

         10  safety certification process.

         11                 Now, first of all, I assume that

         12  Battelle is being paid by the MTA --

         13                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Consultant.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- So I mean

         15  they have some kind of financial incentive in this

         16  job as well.

         17                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Certainly.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And the

         19  System Safety Certification Board, you familiar with

         20  it?

         21                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Only from the reports

         22  that we have recently read about the existence of

         23  this Office of System Safety Certification Board.

         24  It was mentioned in a letter to me, just a month or

         25  two ago from President Reuter.  What's interesting
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          2  about this is that historically, passing on safety

          3  rules was the job of the Office of System Safety.

          4  For the purposes of this technology, they created

          5  this Office of System Safety Certification Board by

          6  adding operating people to the Office of System

          7  Safety unit that would normally pass on this

          8  technology.

          9                 What that does is, it gives, it gives

         10  operating heads a say in determining safety issues.

         11  Where, previously, at least, there was at least a

         12  pretense of a proverbial Chinese wall between making

         13  the safety determination and people with an

         14  operating interest in making certain things happen.

         15  So, if anything, this Certification Board appears to

         16  me, to compromise the safety determination even more

         17  than less.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I agree with

         19  you.  The testimony was that it's comprised of

         20  senior New York City Transit personnel from involved

         21  departments, including operations, engineering,

         22  maintenance and system safety.  I trust that it

         23  doesn't include an Transit workers?

         24                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Absolutely not.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I trust it
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          2  doesn't include any riders?

          3                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  No.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I trust it

          5  doesn't include any outside fully independent

          6  experts?

          7                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Absolutely not.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, their

          9  safety certification process is their outside

         10  evaluator, whose being paid by the MTA, is reporting

         11  back to the MTA to determine whether I like what the

         12  evaluator has had to say, and that's how they're

         13  going to decide whether or not this system is safe

         14  for people to ride on.

         15                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Exactly.

         16                 MR. SAMUELSON:  They're being paid

         17  $5.3 million.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  $5.3 million?

         19                 MR. SAMUELSON:  Pattelle, yea, the

         20  independent safety evaluator.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, I don't

         22  consider that to be an independent analysis and I

         23  think that's just another reason to stop this in its

         24  tracks.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 MR. TOUSSAINT:  Surely, appreciate

          4  it.

          5                 MR. SAMUELSON:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for

          7  joining us and being patient with us this morning.

          8  I'd like to invite our final panel to come up to

          9  present their testimony.  We have Elliott Sclar,

         10  Tresa Horney, William Stanford and Maurice Wells.

         11  Thank you for joining us, Professor Sclar?

         12                 PROFESSOR SCLAR:  Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Please proceed.

         14                 PROFESSOR SCLAR:  Thank you.  Okay.

         15  My name is Elliott Sclar.  I'm a Professor, I'm a

         16  Professor of Urban Planning and Public Affairs at

         17  Columbia University.  I'm an economist by training.

         18  I hold senior appointments in the Graduate School of

         19  Architecture Planning and Preservation and the

         20  School of International and Public Affairs.  I'm the

         21  Director of Graduate Programs and Urban Planning and

         22  the Director of the Center for Sustainable Urban

         23  Development at, within the Columbia Earth Institute.

         24                 I thank the Chair and the Members of

         25  the Transportation Committee for inviting me to
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          2  testify.  My areas of specialization include public

          3  service economics, transportation and metropolitan

          4  economic development.  Access for All:

          5  Transportation and Urban Growth, which I co-

          6  authored with K. H. Schaefer is considered the

          7  classic treatment of the relationship between

          8  metropolitan development and urban transportation.

          9  I've served as a member of study panels and as a

         10  consultant at the Transportation Research Board, and

         11  I have been a Member of the Board of Directors of

         12  the Institute for Transportation Development Policy.

         13                 In 1958, Richard Befault (phonetic),

         14  Vice- Chairman of the Columbia Law School and I

         15  prepared the report on the equity of the MTA's fare

         16  structure required, pursuant to the court-

         17  supervised settlement agreement that ended the

         18  lawsuit between the New York Urban League and the

         19  MTA, over the impact of the  '95 fare increases on

         20  New York City's minority community.

         21                 My book, You Don't Always Get What

         22  You Pay For: The Economics of Privatization, won two

         23  major academic prizes, the Best Book of 2000 from

         24  the National Academy of Public Administration and

         25  the 2001 Charles Levine Prize from the International
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          2  Political Science Association for a major

          3  contribution to the public policy literature.

          4                 I'm here today to speak in favor of

          5  Resolution Number 323.  Communications Based Train

          6  Control, CBTC, holds great promise for improving the

          7  efficiency and safety of our transport systems.

          8  Parenthetically, I would like to say, I wrote this

          9  before I heard the MTA representatives speak.  But,

         10  the technology can only deliver on this promise if

         11  its properly employed.  In the present case, the MTA

         12  is proposing to graft 21st century technology onto a

         13  system whose design elements date back to the 19th

         14  century.  If this is to be successful, it's

         15  important that the context in which this technology

         16  is inserted be fully understood.

         17                 It is a system in which derailments,

         18  track fires and other forms of mechanical delay are

         19  not extraordinary events. It's also a system that

         20  operates in a post- 9/11 world.  A world in which

         21  the MTA goes to great pains and expense to inform us

         22  that if we "see something" we must "say something."

         23                 Safety and security now join

         24  efficiency and reliability as essential elements of

         25  system quality.  The mix of the four is not easily

                                                            149

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  pulled apart.  It's absolutely vital that staffing

          3  patterns not be reduced simply because new

          4  technology has changed the needed work.  Safety and

          5  security must be weighed on a par that is at least

          6  as equal to concerns with functional operational

          7  efficiency.

          8                 It's important to ensure that there

          9  are trained personnel on site to handle anything

         10  from ordinary break downs to terrorist attacks.

         11  Although the MTA seeks to assure us that they have

         12  considered all the safety features of the new

         13  technology, the focus of their attention has been

         14  upon incidents of technological failure in the face

         15  of extraordinary events.

         16                 There has been very little attention

         17  paid to issues of passenger behavior and panic in

         18  our post- 9/11 world. At present, the MTA has no in-

         19  house capability for monitoring this important

         20  concern.  To understand this, one only has to look

         21  at their Office of Safety Systems evaluation of the

         22  One Person Train Operation undertaken as part of the

         23  planning for the Canarsie Line's transformation.

         24  And, I'm going to quote from their review, OSS

         25  reviewed statistics from passenger evacuation
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          2  records to identify passenger evacuation incidents

          3  and found that no passenger evacuations occurred on

          4  the L Line during the time period between January

          5  1996 and December 31, 2003.  However, events of this

          6  nature can be expected to occur in the future.  In

          7  the event of a fire, explosion, terrorist attack, et

          8  cetera, it may be necessary to initiate a passenger

          9  evacuation prior to the arrival of another employee.

         10    The coordination of an evacuation of a full length

         11  train with one employee will be time consuming and

         12  as the train operator may have to obtain an

         13  emergency evacuation device from the south end of

         14  the nearest southbound platform and inspect the

         15  emergency exit prior to initiating evacuation and

         16  the delay could result in passenger panic and self-

         17  evacuation.  It was determined that the probability

         18  of this incident occurring was, in their terms,

         19  remote, that is unlikely, but can reasonably be

         20  expected to occur.

         21                 In a later paragraph, the report goes

         22  on to state that events that require the train

         23  operator to go to the roadbed occur routinely.

         24  However, statistics are not available to determine

         25  the frequency that passengers would become panicked
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          2  if they were not informed when the train operator

          3  went to the roadbed.  The following events must

          4  occur for the hazard to occur, that is, i.e., panic.

          5    And, this is what they list: One, the train

          6  operator must leave the train; two, the public

          7  address system must be inoperative; three, there is

          8  excessive crowding; and four, there is customer

          9  panic.

         10                 So, they're saying that if there's

         11  panic, there could be panic.  It's expected that the

         12  probability that all of these events could occur,

         13  this is their words, on the L Line will be

         14   "improbable, that is unlikely to occur."

         15                 The report essentially focuses on

         16  situations where truly hazardous events occur, which

         17  they regard as remote chances, rather than upon the

         18  ways in which more ordinary break downs can be

         19  transformed from minor service delays into tragedy

         20  because of passenger's panic.

         21                 It's important to remember that much

         22  of the OSS' analytic conclusions are based upon pre-

         23  9/11 experience and data, and the report states that

         24   "statistics are not available to determine the

         25  frequency that passengers would become panicked."
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          2  Again, from the report.  At best, the current MTA

          3  assessments can be fairly called speculative.

          4                 We do know that prior to 9/11, New

          5  Yorkers routinely remained calm and often inactive

          6  at the sound of a fire alarm or the smell of smoke.

          7  Today, however, nearly all New Yorkers know to

          8  evacuate regardless of direction received. Consider

          9  what occurred just on August 10th on a PATH train in

         10  Manhattan.  The train filled with smoke as a result

         11  of a track fire in the tunnel, in which the train

         12  was just entering.  As the crew began responding to

         13  the incident, the passengers became panicked as

         14  black smoke filled the first cars with the doors

         15  shut because they were in the tunnel.  Passengers

         16  stampeded to the rear of the train, into the cars

         17  still in the station and smashed windows to flee

         18  onto the platform and out to the street.

         19  Fortunately, no one was hurt that time.  Reduced

         20  staffing can only make situations like these worse,

         21  regardless of how well the train base technology

         22  functions.

         23                 Before this change over can move

         24  ahead, there needs to be a systematic analysis of

         25  hazards and responses in a post- 9/11 world.  It has
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          2  to be an analysis which understands the conditions

          3  under which both the ordinary and the extraordinary

          4  causes a break down and packed rider behavior.  It's

          5  vital that the City Council take an active role in

          6  overseeing this 21st century transformation of one

          7  of the City's most important public assets.

          8                 And, before I thank you, I would, as,

          9  I'm also a professional economist, and I was

         10  appalled at the testimony on the lack of any cost

         11  benefit analysis or prioritizing of these, of the

         12  technology.  I'm very much in favor of these new

         13  technologies, because I really do think, knowing

         14  more about where trains are, can only make things

         15  better.  But, it has to be done contextually and

         16  this is being done acontextually and it's being done

         17  with no sense of the cost.  We have a system that,

         18  right now, I think, what is the deficit they're

         19  looking at? $500 something million right now? And

         20  they're trying to figure out how to cover that, and

         21  this goes on as if it's in a parallel universe.

         22  These are things that become very important for you

         23  to deal with.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Tresa.

         25                 MS. HORNEY:  Good afternoon.  My name
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          2  is Tresa Horney and I'm testifying on behalf of the

          3  Sierra Club.  I'd like to thank you for allowing me

          4  to be here.

          5                 The Sierra Club is the nation's

          6  oldest and largest environmental grassroots

          7  organization, with 14,000 members in New York City,

          8  is urging the City to preserve the safety and

          9  security of our subway ridership.  Mass transit in

         10  New York City is a necessity, not a luxury, with

         11  millions of people using the subways everyday as a

         12  great environmentally friendly and affordable

         13  alternative to automobiles.

         14                 The Sierra Club does not take the

         15  position on the use of automated trains, but we do

         16  oppose the removal of train conductors.  It is

         17  important for subway riders to not only be safe, but

         18  also to feel safe when they travel on the trains.

         19  Removing train conductors will take away the eyes

         20  and ears used to keep people safe from criminals,

         21  terrorists, and any other threat that a rider may

         22  encounter.

         23                 One reason subway ridership has

         24  increased over the years is because riders feel

         25  safer.  If you take away the feelings of security
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          2  and safety, we fear that ridership will decrease,

          3  forcing people to turn to their cars.  In every

          4  aspect, this is bad for New York.  Increased auto

          5  use will cause the need for more parking in a City

          6  where, as it is, there never seems to be a spot when

          7  you need one, increased traffic congestion, a

          8  problem that in this City, this City is currently

          9  already struggling with, and an increase in smog and

         10  greenhouse gas emissions in a City with already poor

         11  air quality.  This negative environmental impact

         12  will lead to more ozone days and an increase in the

         13  City's already high asthma rates.

         14                 New Yorkers deserve better, a safe,

         15  environmentally responsible form of transportation.

         16  New York cannot afford anything less.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

         18  much.  We'll now hear from William Stanford.

         19                 MR. STANFORD:  First of all, John,

         20  I'm happy you, I wish we could of held this forum

         21  yesterday, because I celebrated my 34th birthday,

         22  but that's okay.  Just for the record, my name is

         23  Mr. X, for those of you, for those of you who don't

         24  know me.  Some of you have seen me blast MTA

         25  officials at 347 Madison Avenue, particularly the
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          2  Chairman, when I feel like it.

          3                 I'm very, I'm annoyed with Kevin

          4  O'Donnell (sic) and Fred Smith.  I just met these,

          5  well, actually, I didn't meet these two men.  I just

          6  first saw them.  They're just as bad as Peter.  So,

          7  let me guess, Peter Kalikow couldn't attend this

          8  forum, so he sent two flunkies new to me to this

          9  forum.  They didn't answer John's questions, they

         10  didn't answer Louie's questions, they didn't even,

         11  they paid no attention to any of the City Council

         12  Members here.  I feel like I'm at 347 Madison

         13  Avenue, now, just the Downtown Manhattan version.

         14                 I mean, first it was OPTO, second it

         15  was ATO, and now it's CBTC.  What's going on here?

         16  You want to eliminate conductors, you want to

         17  eliminate the drivers, you want to eliminate, close

         18  the booths, you want to eliminate station agents.

         19  What's going on here?  I don't understand that.

         20                 I'm totally against the CBTC system.

         21  It shouldn't be implemented on any A or B division

         22  lines.  Something goes wrong, there's a lawsuit.

         23  So, no, that's unacceptable.  They didn't even, they

         24  stated it was supposed to start in December, well,

         25  and then they said it's going to start in July.  So,
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          2  they can't even determine when it's supposed to

          3  start.

          4                 Much like, this is like the same

          5  reaction I've gotten at 347 Madison Avenue.  You

          6  tell us one thing and then you turn around and tell

          7  us something else.  I don't understand that. I would

          8  be very funny if this were held at 347 Madison

          9  Avenue. But, no, John, I thank you for holding this

         10  forum and no, I have no sympathy for Kevin and Fred,

         11  and if I were in your shoes, if I were conducting

         12  this forum, they would have been dealt with.  I

         13  would have given then, I would have leaped over,

         14  leaped over that top and I would have given them a

         15  flying closing off the top, much like the LOD, aka

         16  Legion of Doom.  Because I don't get down like that

         17  and you should know that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  I'm

         19  just happy that we don't have communications based

         20  public hearing testifiers from the MTA.  Please, Mr.

         21  Wells.

         22                 MR. WELLS:  Good afternoon Chairman

         23  Liu, City Council Members, I thank you for this

         24  Hearing.  For the record, my name is Maurice Wells.

         25  I've been a subway conductor for 17 years, and,
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          2  again, I thank you for this Hearing.

          3                 I don't have a prepared statement, so

          4  I'm just going to say what's off the top of my head.

          5    I think it's absolutely ludicrous that this is

          6  being introduced into the City of New York.  The MTA

          7  has no forthright plan on evacuating trains.  Like I

          8  said, I've been a conductor, I work on the Midnight

          9  tour.  So, first of all, the conductor is

         10  responsible for passenger safety, especially like on

         11  the Midnight tour, when there's no police on the

         12  trains sometimes.  The conductor watches over the

         13  passengers.

         14                 Now, you mentioned back releasing the

         15  trains. Now, a full length train, like an eight car

         16  train or what the, like what the MTA is proposing to

         17  introduce the new trains, which are going to be

         18  eight cars, or a full length train can be ten cars,

         19  or two City blocks long, that's what some stations

         20  are, two City blocks long.

         21                 Now, it's hard for a train operator

         22  and a conductor sometimes to evacuate a train in

         23  cases of emergency, sometimes a full length train.

         24  Now, there's even going to be more disaster with

         25  just one person on the train.  I think it's, it's
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          2  ludicrous even insane that they're going to remove

          3  conductors from the train in this post- 9/11 era,

          4  all persons, you need as much personnel on the

          5  trains as possible.

          6                 Track crews have evacuated trains in

          7  9/11.  We had the York Street fire.  Even last

          8  month, when that derailment on the F train, Transit

          9  crews have evacuated trains.  Conductors need to be

         10  kept on the trains and anything other than that is

         11  going to be potentially disastrous.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very much

         13  for sitting through this entire Hearing.  It has

         14  been a lengthy Hearing and we appreciate the

         15  thoughtful testimony that you have provided with us.

         16    Thank you very much.

         17                 I would also like to state for the

         18  record that Betsy Gotbaum, the Public Advocate for

         19  the City of New York has also provided us with

         20  written testimony for today's Hearing. There being

         21  no other witnesses, I want to thank everybody for

         22  joining us today.  This Hearing is now adjourned.

         23                 (Meeting adjourned)

         24                 (Following written testimony was read

         25  into the record)
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          2  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          3  BEVERLY DOLINSKY

          4  NEW YORK CITY TRANSIT RIDERS COUNCIL

          5                 Good morning, my name is Beverly

          6  Dolinsky.  I am the Executive Director of the New

          7  York City Transit Riders Council (NYCTRC).  The

          8  Council consists of 15 members appointed by the

          9  Governor upon the recommendation of the Mayor, the

         10  Public Advocate and the five Borough Presidents.

         11  The members are volunteers and have represented the

         12  interests of riders since 1977.

         13                 Everyone in this room is very well

         14  versed in the financial difficulties facing the MTA.

         15    The deficits in the operating budget are expected

         16  to balloon to a billion dollars a year if no relief

         17  is forthcoming from New York State and New York

         18  City.  Huge operating deficits are not a new story

         19  at the MTA. In fact, most public transportation

         20  systems cannot pay for themselves, which is why they

         21  are no longer private.  Even the so called "private"

         22  bus companies have been subsidized by New York City

         23  for many years.  You may be asking yourself why I am

         24  speaking about budgetary matters at this hearing on

         25  Communication Based Train Control (CBTC).  The
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          2  reason is that CBTC represents a productivity

          3  improvement.  These productivity increases are

          4  essential to the system's financial health.

          5                 The greatest portion of any

          6  transportation company's budget is for salaries and

          7  benefits.  And one of the ways to combat spiraling

          8  operating deficits and to improve or maintain

          9  existing levels of service is through productivity

         10  gains.  The MTA must improve its efficiency.  Fares

         11  can only be raised so much and the likelihood of

         12  larger and larger public subsidies is questionable;

         13  therefore, increasing productivity is crucial.  So

         14  in the end, the budget and the MTA's dire financial

         15  outlook may be the driving factor in bringing the

         16  transit system into the twenty- first century.

         17                 One of the ways of improving

         18  productivity at the MTA is through Communication

         19  Based Train Control (CBTC).  In 1982, the Permanent

         20  Citizens Advisory Committee to the MTA, of which the

         21  Transit Riders Council is a member, recognized the

         22  need for improving productivity at the MTA and

         23  looked at four methods to accomplish these gains.

         24  Among the four methods that we examined were

         25  improved signaling and One Person Train Operation
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          2  (OPTO).  Here we are twenty- two years later still

          3  debating the merits of these efficiency measures.

          4                 This hearing is being held to allay

          5  your fears and concerns about the safety of riders

          6  with Communication Based Train Control and One

          7  Person Train Operation.  The experts from Transit

          8  are more equipped than I to explain their

          9  advantages; however, as someone who has observed the

         10  MTA and its operating agencies for more than thirty

         11  years and represented its users for more than twenty

         12  years, I can say unequivocally that Transit will not

         13  install or operate a system is not 100 percent safe

         14  for its riders.  You know very well that safety is

         15  the primary driving force around any decisions that

         16  are made and CBTC is not the exception.  In fact,

         17  for this project NYC Transit has an Independent

         18  Safety Assessor (ISA), Battelle, whose role is as

         19  follows:

         20                  "The responsibility of the ISA

         21  consists of independent documentation reviews, on-

         22  site audits, test witnessing, design verifications,

         23  algorithm reviews, subsystems evaluations,

         24  installation inspections, assessment of the

         25  certifiable items list and the review of maintenance
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          2  procedures, associated training aspects, operating

          3  rules and procedures."

          4                 The ISA reports to the System Safety

          5  Certification Board (SSCB).  Before CBTC goes into

          6  passenger operation all aspects including training

          7  must be approved by the ISA and SSCB.

          8                 CBTC is a mature technology that in

          9  fact will enhance the safety of train operation.  It

         10  will significantly improve train control by

         11  providing more operational flexibility.  And with

         12  CBTC, throughput can be increased, if there are the

         13  funds for improving service.

         14                 CBTC is in use successfully in a

         15  number of systems around the world including several

         16  in North America: San Francisco's MUNI, Toronto's

         17  Scarborough Rapid Transit and The Port Authority's

         18  Air Train.  SEPTA's (Philadelphia) light rail line

         19  is due to open with CBTC in a month.  As you know

         20  there are systems with CBTC that operate safely

         21  without a motor person, such as the Paris Meteor

         22  Line, but that is not what is being proposed for the

         23  Canarsie Line.  Even with CBTC fully implemented, an

         24  operator will be in the train.

         25                 As for One Person Train Operation,
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          2  that is trains without conductors, it is already

          3  successfully is use here in a limited way.

          4  Currently, a train crew consists of a conductor who

          5  controls the doors and a motor person who drives the

          6  train. Since these duties are performed at different

          7  times, one person can assume the responsibilities of

          8  two.  With OPTO, if train lengths were shortened and

          9  train frequencies increased, ridership would be

         10  spurred and a percentage of displaced conductors

         11  could be reemployed as motor persons or platform

         12  conductors as a means to mitigate union opposition.

         13  OPTO has been successfully deployed in Europe since

         14  the 1960s and in the United States since the 1970s

         15  and as stated earlier is successfully deployed here

         16  on the Franklin Avenue and Rockaway Park Shuttles

         17  and the G Line on weekends, and should be expanded.

         18  With CBTC it makes absolute sense to expand OPTO to

         19  the Canarsie Line.

         20                 Through almost three decades of

         21  representing the riding public, the NYCTRC has

         22  always held safety as its paramount concern.  While

         23  safety concerns must be addressed, we cannot be

         24  afraid of proven technologies that make the system

         25  operate more efficiently.
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          2                 When these enhancements are made,

          3  service is improved, costs are reduced, and riders,

          4  employees, and taxpayers benefit.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 1:15 p.m.)
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